INVESTIGATING SKILLED READING IN SCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN: AN EEG STUDY

by

Lisa Julia Beck

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2018

© Copyright by Lisa Julia Beck, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABSTRACT	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	xi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Reading Changes Brain Activity	6
2.2 Underlying Skills Involved in Reading	6
2.2.1 Orthography	6
2.2.2 Phonology	7
2.2.3 Semantics	8
2.2.4 Additional Factors Contributing to Reading Ability	8
2.3 STAGE MODELS OF READING DEVELOPMENT	9
2.3.1. Pre-Reading	9
2.3.1.1 The Importance of Spoken Language	10
2.3.1.2 Emergent Literacy	11
2.3.2 Early and Novice Reading	11
2.3.2.1 Sight Word Reading	12
2.3.2.2 Phonemic Decoding	13
2.3.2.3 Novice Readers	14
2.3.3 Skilled Reading	15
2.4 THE DUAL ROUTE MODEL OF READING	15
2.5 REAL WORLD IMPLICATIONS OF SKILLED READING	17
2.6 THE TRANSITION TO SKILLED READING	18

2.7 THEORIES OF SKILLED READING DEVELOPMENT	18
2.7.1 The Self-Teaching Hypothesis	18
2.7.1.1 The Role of Context and Meaning	19
2.7.1.2 Modeling the Self-Teaching Hypothesis	20
2.7.2 The Lexical Quality Hypothesis	21
2.8 Studies on Orthographic and Semantic learning	23
2.8.1 Ortho-Semantic Learning Paradigm	24
2.8.2 Ortho-Semantic Learning and Reading Ability	24
2.8.3 A Novel Approach	25
2.9 Limitations of Behavioural Research	26
2.10 NEUROPHYSIOLOGICAL MEASUREMENTS OF READING	26
2.10.1 Electroencephalography	26
2.10.2 Event-Related Potentials	27
2.10.3 ERP Components	27
2.11 ERP INDICES OF WORD READING	28
2.11.1 The P1	28
2.11.2 The P150	29
2.11.3 The N170	29
2.11.3.1 Print Tuning	30
2.11.3.2 Lexical Tuning	31
2.11.3.3 Additional Sensitivities of the N170	32
2.11.4 The PMN and RE	32
2.11.5 The N400	33
2.12 THE N170 AS A BIOMARKER OF READING DEVELOPMENT	34
2.12.1 Print Tuning Evidence	34
2.12.2 Lexical Tuning Evidence	36
2.13 THE N170 AND BEHAVIOURAL MEASURES OF READING SKILLS	37
2.13.1 N170 Lateralization: The Phonological Mapping Hypothesis	38
2.13.1.1 The Visual Word Form Area	39

2.14 SUMMARY	41
2.15 THE CURRENT STUDY	43
2.16 Hypotheses	45
2.16.1 Research Question 1: Group-Level and Fluency-Modulated Pri	nt
and Lexical Tuning	45
2.16.1.1 Group-Level N170 Effects	45
2.16.1.2 Fluency-Modulated Print and Lexical Tuning	46
2.16.2 Research Question 2: Individual Differences in Ortho-semantic	2
Learning and N170 Effects	47
2.16.2.1 Orthographic Learning and N170 Effects	48
2.16.2.2 Semantic Learning and N170 Effects	49
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	50
3.1 PARTICIPANTS	50
3.2 BEHAVIOURAL PROCEDURE AND MEASURES	51
3.2.1 Reading Skills	
3.2.2 Phonological Skills	
3.2.3 Orthographic Knowledge	53
3.2.4 Semantic Knowledge	53
3.2.5 Nonverbal Intelligence	54
3.2.6 Working Memory	54
3.2.7 Measures Excluded in Current Study	54
3.3 EEG Procedure and Measures	55
3.3.1 Lexical Decision Task	55
3.3.2 LDT Stimuli	56
3.3.2.1 Real Words	56
3.3.2.2 Non-words	57
3.3.2.3 Novel Words	57
3.3.2.4 Consonant Strings	57
3.3.2.5 False Fonts	58

3.3.2.6 Conditions Excluded in Current Study	58
3.3.3 Ortho-Semantic Learning Task	59
3.3.3.1 Adaptations to the Ortho-Semantic Learning Paradigm	59
3.3.3.2 Exposure Phase	60
3.3.3.3 Novel word Stimuli	61
3.3.3.4 Orthographic Choice Task	62
3.3.3.5 Semantic Choice Task	63
3.4 ERP PREPROCESSING	65
3.5 Statistical Analysis	66
3.5.1 Group-Level Behavioural Data	66
3.5.1.1 Behavioral Measures	66
3.5.1.2 Lexical Decision Task Data	67
3.5.2 Group-Level EEG Data	67
3.5.3 EEG and Behavioural Data	69
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1 BEHAVIOURAL DATA	70
4.1.1 Behavioural Measures	70
4.1.2 Correlation Matrix	71
4.1.3 Lexical Decision Task	72
4.2 ERP DATA	73
4.2.1 Group-Level Data	73
4.2.2 Individual Differences: EEG and Behavioural Data	
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	
5.1 OVERVIEW	
5.2 Research Question 1: Group-Level and Fluency-Modulated	
Print and Lexical Tuning	
5.2.1 Group-Level N170 Effects	
5.2.1.1 Additional Notes about Group-Level Findings	90
5.2.2 Fluency-Modulated Print and Lexical Tuning	90

SEMANTIC LEARNING AND N170 EFFECTS	92
5.3.1 Orthographic Learning and the N170 Effects	92
5.3.2 Semantic Learning and the N170 Effects	94
5.3.2.1 Additional Notes about Behavioural Measures and N170 Effects	94
5.3.3 Correlations between Behavioural Measures	95
5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE CURRENT STUDY	98
5.4.1 Adaptations of the Ortho-semantic Learning Paradigm	98
5.4.2 Behavioural Measures of Reading Skills	99
5.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	100
5.5.1 Additional Experimental Conditions	100
5.5.2 Additional Predictor Variables	102
5.5.3 Additional Studies Including Grade 3 Readers	103
5.5.4 Print and Lexical Tuning as Novel Contributions	103
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	105
REFERENCES	108

5.3 RESEARCH QUESTION 2: INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES IN ORTHO-

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Ortho-semantic learning task non-words representing target sounds and their homophonic foils	54
Table 2	Descriptive statistics for behavioural measures of fluency, phonemic decoding, orthographic knowledge/learning, and semantic knowledge/learning	70
Table 3	Posthoc contrasts between N170 print and lexical tuning and behavioural measures of fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning	34

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Example Stimuli from Orthographic Choice Task with Target Word Clet	62
Figure 2	Example Stimuli from Semantic Choice Task with Target Word Clet	64
Figure 3	Correlation Matrix containing Pairwise Correlations Between Scores of Fluency, Phonemic Decoding, Orthographic Knowledge/Learning, and Semantic Knowledge/Learning	
Figure 4	Topographic scalp maps of the grand average ERP waveforms from 200 ms pre-stimulus onset to 900 ms post stimulus onset for the three conditions of interest: real words, false font, and consonant strings.	
Figure 5	Topographic map representing the grand average ERP waveform at 200 ms following the presentation of real word stimuli	
Figure 6	Top-down map of the 128 Channel Hydrocel Geodesic Sensor Net indicating the seven electrodes in both the left (yellow stars) and right (pink stars) hemispheres selected as ROIs based on the grand average ERP data.	
Figure 7	Grand average waveforms for all conditions in the 190-225 ms time window at electrode E6, centrally located within the left hemisphere ROI.	
Figure 8	Grand average waveforms for all conditions in the 190-225 ms time window at electrode E90, centrally located within the right hemisphere ROI.	
Figure 9	Dot plot depicting the adaptive mean amplitudes of the N170 ERP component with 95% CIs for each condition in the 170-290 ms time window at left and right hemisphere ROIs.	79
Figure 10	Bar plot representing the laterality (right-left) difference of the adaptive mean amplitude between left and right hemisphere ROIs for each condition in the 170-290 ms time window	80
Figure 11	Bar plot representing the magnitudes of the N170 print tuning (real words – false font) and lexical tuning (real words – consonant strings) effects in the left and right hemisphere ROIs in the 190-270 ms time window.	

Figure 12	Print tuning (real word – false font) adaptive mean amplitude as a function of scores of orthographic learning with 95% CIs
Figure 13	Lexical tuning (real word – consonant strings) adaptive mean amplitude as a function of scores of fluency with 95% CIs

ABSTRACT

There exist conceptual gaps between the behavioural and electrophysiological accounts of skilled reading development that limit the ability to interpret them cohesively. The goal of this study was to bridge these gaps and determine how behavioural measures of ortho-semantic learning – skills thought to be involved in the transition to skilled reading – relate to N170 print and lexical tuning, established neurophysiological markers of visual word expertise. Thirty-six grade 3 children completed assessments of orthosemantic learning. Electroencephalography (EEG) was then used to record their neural activity during a lexical decision task. Group-level EEG data revealed significant bilateral N170 print and lexical tuning effects. The print tuning effect was significantly modulated by orthographic learning, but not by fluency or semantic learning. Lexical tuning was not modulated by any of the behavioural measures of reading. Future research should further investigate these relationships using contrasts of additional conditions and more robust measures of reading skills.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

Ortho-semantic	orthographic and semantic	
DRC	dual route cascaded model of reading	
EEG	electroencephalography	
ERP	event-related potential	
PMN	phonological mapping negativity	
RE	rhyming effect	
VWFA	visual word form area	
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging	
HRM	Halifax regional municipality	
HRB	Halifax regional school board	
REB	research ethics board	
TOWRE-2	Test of Word Reading Efficiency, second edition	
CTOPP-2	Comprehensive Test of Phonological Processing, second edition	
M-PPVT-3	Modified Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, third edition	
WASI	Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence	
WISC-4	Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, fourth edition	
LDT	lexical decision task	
ICA	independent components analysis	
GAM	generalized additive mixed-effects	

AIC	Akaike information criterion
ROI	region of interest
AMA	adaptive mean amplitude
CI	confidence interval

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Aaron Newman, for his continued support and guidance throughout my undergraduate and graduate student research experiences. During my five years under his guidance, I've gained technical research skills, skills in scientific writing, and I've also learned the importance of supporting fellow researchers and fostering the local research community through knowledge sharing and collaboration. I have the utmost respect for his immense knowledge of the field, his engaging methods of teaching and supervision, and his commitment to making science accessible and applicable to a broader population. I consider myself incredibly fortunate to have had the opportunity to learn from him.

I would also like to thank Dr. Alena Galilee, the post-doctoral researcher who I had the pleasure of working closely with during my time on this project. Her creative mindset and dedication to the research were inspiring, and I valued her guidance and motivation in times of self-doubt. Furthermore, I would like to thank the members of the NeuroCognitive Imaging Lab at Dalhousie University, particularly Clara Lownie and Reem Batarfi, for their help on this project. I also want to thank Dr. Hélène Deacon, the director of Dalhousie's Language and Literacy Lab and the co-principal investigator on this project, for allowing me to be a part of such a wonderful and important research endeavor.

I would also like to thank the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) for funding this research through an Insight Development Grant. This funding provided me with the opportunity to gain experience in research techniques and data collection that would not have otherwise been possible.

Special thank you to my co-supervisor Dr. Steven Aiken, and my committee members, Dr. Patricia Cleave and Dr. Elizabeth Kay-Raining Bird. I appreciate your time, your support, and your valuable feedback throughout this research process. I consider you all professional role models and hope to work with you again in the future.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Cameron and Roxanne Beck, my sister, Quincy Beck, and my partner, Thayne Campbell for their patience, support, love, ... and did I mention patience? I will never be able to thank each of you enough for supporting me through my ten-year 'career' as a post-secondary student. You've each been my rock and the light at the end of every tunnel I've encountered along the way. Thank you, thank you, thank you.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Reading is a complex skill that requires the development, recruitment, and synthesis of several cognitive and linguistic processes. Children begin the process of learning to read with no preexisting knowledge of the printed representations of their language. After some basic training and exposure to print, they begin to master basic reading abilities and are able to convert strings of printed letters to words that they have previously learned through spoken language — a stage in reading development called novice reading (Chall, 1996; Fitzgerald & Shanahan, 2000). Arguably the most complex aspect of reading development, however, is the transition from novice to skilled reading, at which time children begin to efficiently and seemingly automatically map printed words to their stored sound and meaning representations in the brain. The transition to skilled reading is considered to be a critical developmental achievement in reading, as it allows children to focus not on the act of reading itself, but instead on the use of reading as a learning tool for fostering new knowledge and gaining new skills (Share, 2004; Pikulski & Chard, 2005; Chall, 1996).

Unfortunately, however, not all children achieve skilled reading. There is well documented individual variability in the speed and extent to which skilled reading is achieved, and this variability is thought to have a range of substantial real-world implications, from academic and vocational success to social integration (Lloyd, 1978; Hernandez, 2011; Cohen et al., 2018). Because skilled reading has such important consequences, many research efforts have been devoted to clarifying its underpinnings and understanding the nature of its development.

Behavioural-psychological research on skilled reading development focuses primarily on the relative contributions of component skills in orthography, phonology, and semantics. Findings in this body of literature suggest that children in the early stages of reading rely on the process of phonemic decoding, which is the process of mapping printed letters to sounds. Children use this strategy to access spoken word forms and ultimately, word meaning. As they continue to develop reading skills, however, the literature suggests that phonemic decoding becomes more automatic, and consequently, children rely less on this process in order to read printed words (Dyer et al., 2003). It is thought that in later reading development, skills in orthographic and semantic learning, or the capacity to learn new written forms and their corresponding meanings, respectively, are more predictive of reading ability than other underlying skills (Share, 2008; Nation & Castles, 2017; Mimeau et al., 2018).

The electrophysiological literature also provides an account of reading development; however, the investigations in this body of literature focus on the underlying neural activity involved in reading, which is indexed by a series event-related potentials (ERPs) — neural signals recorded using electroencephalography (EEG) that correspond to the presentation of a stimulus. The N170 ERP component has been the primary focus of electrophysiological studies of reading development. The N170 shows two different effects in response to printed stimuli: the print tuning effect (i.e., greater neural response to printed words compared to symbols; Bentin et al., 1999) and the lexical tuning effect (i.e., greater neural response to printed words; Compton et al., 1991; McCandliss et al., 1997). The magnitude and lateralization of these two effects show characteristic changes throughout reading

development, and these changes are thought to reflect the development of visual expertise for printed words.

It is clear that although both bodies of literature provide accounts of reading development, these accounts are relatively independent of each other --- measuring different skills and reporting different constructs. In order to develop a more in-depth understanding of skilled reading development, the current study aimed to bridge the conceptual gaps between the behavioural and electrophysiological accounts of reading development. Specifically, the goal of this study was to determine how behavioural measures of orthographic and semantic learning - skills thought to be directly involved in the transition to skilled reading — relate to N170 print and lexical tuning, established neurophysiological markers of visual word expertise. In order to do this, thirty-six children in grade 3 completed assessments of the behavioural skills involved in reading, including an adaptation of a well-studied ortho-semantic learning paradigm. Next, EEG was used to record participants' neural activity while they read letter-based and non-letter stimuli on a screen during a lexical decision task. The EEG data was then analyzed in a time window characteristic of the N170, and the mean amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print tuning and lexical tuning effects were examined both at the group level and in relation to individual differences in scores of reading fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning. These investigations were conducted in order to answer the following research questions:

 Are characteristic group-level and fluency-modulated N170 print and lexical tuning effects present in this sample of grade 3 readers?

 Are the amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print and lexical tuning effects modulated by skills involved in intermediate stages of reading development — specifically orthographic and semantic learning?

In relation to research question 1, I hypothesized that a group-level bilateral print tuning effect would be present in this sample of grade 3 readers. The presence of a grouplevel lexical tuning effect was exploratory, given reports suggesting that it is later to emerge than print tuning (Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Posner & McCandliss, 2000). Furthermore, I expected that (1) readers with higher scores of fluency would show larger amplitude, left-lateralized print tuning effects compared to less fluent readers, and (2) readers with higher scores of fluency would show left-lateralized lexical tuning effects, whereas this effect would be absent in less fluent readers.

In relation to research question 2, I predicted readers with higher scores of orthographic learning would show similar patterns of N170 print and lexical tuning amplitude and lateralization to that of readers with higher scores of fluency, reflecting connections between subsystems involved in visual and linguistic processing of orthographic structure. The relationship between semantic learning and N170 effects was exploratory in this study, as learning the meaning of novel orthographic forms requires associations between different cues (e.g., contextual, pragmatic, environmental) and previously stored semantic knowledge — unlike the word-level, visual orthographic and lexical processing indexed by the N170 print and lexical tuning effects, respectively.

Group-level results indicated significant bilateral N170 print tuning and lexical tuning effects. These effects were not significantly modulated by fluency in either hemisphere. Analysis of individual differences in N170 effects and ortho-semantic

learning revealed a bilateral orthographic learning-modulated print tuning effect, where children with higher scores of orthographic learning showed larger amplitude print tuning effects than children with lower orthographic learning skills. Orthographic learning did not modulate the lexical tuning effect in either hemisphere. Semantic learning did not modulate the print or lexical tuning effects in the current study.

The findings in this study provide preliminary evidence for novel group-level N170 effects in grade 3 readers (i.e., a bilateral lexical tuning effect), as well for a functional relationship between orthographic learning and the N170 print tuning effect. These preliminary findings serve as a foundation for future studies investigating the relationships between ortho-semantic learning and N170 effects. The body of literature examining these relationships will ultimately help us to maximize our understanding of skilled reading development. This will in turn allow us to work toward the long-term goal of using brain correlates of reading as a tool to identify areas of difficulty in reading for each child so that they can be specifically targeted by intervention or educational techniques, thereby maximizing individual reading abilities and improving academic outcomes.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 READING CHANGES BRAIN ACTIVITY

The ability to read is considered to be a substantial milestone in typical development; however, unlike other developmental milestones, reading is neither automatic nor innate. It is a complex process that requires explicit teaching, repeated exposure, and the recruitment, synthesis, and refinement of many cognitive and linguistic skills. These are reflected by changes in brain activity that can be noted throughout reading development, as the neural pathways involved in reading are re-organized and refined (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005). Understanding the nature of these changes is important for understanding the corresponding perceptual and cognitive processes that are occurring as reading skills develop.

2.2 UNDERLYING SKILLS INVOLVED IN READING

In order to effectively understand these neurocognitive developmental changes, it is first important to understand the underlying skills that are implicated in the literature. In general, theories of reading development emphasize the importance of three component skills: orthography, phonology, and semantics.

2.2.1 Orthography

Orthography refers to the conventions for writing in a language. It describes and defines the symbols used to translate the individual sounds in a word (phonemes) into written forms (graphemes). Orthography also provides rules for using the written symbols, including the ways in which they can be combined to form acceptable written words, based on the relationships between phonemes and graphemes (spelling; Seidenberg,1992; Donohue, 2007). Furthermore, it addresses the appropriate use of other

components of written language such as hyphenation, capitalization, and punctuation all of which are important for sentence-level orthography (Venezky, 1999). Although the term orthography is typically used to refer to a standardized, prescriptive set of conventions, newer alternative definitions are recognizing orthography as any form of writing in a given language without determination of correct or incorrect, while also acknowledging that the application of orthographic rules has a range of standardization (Sebba, 2007).

2.2.2 Phonology

Phonology refers to the system of speech sounds (phonemes) in a language and the relationships between them. A critical phonological skill that serves as a precursor for reading is *phonological awareness*, which is a child's awareness of the internal sound structures of words and the ability to manipulate this structure, as indicated by the ability to identify syllable onsets and rimes, identify individual phonemes, identify/generate rhyming words, match spoken initial consonants, move/delete/add phonemes within a spoken word, and count the number of phonemes in a spoken word (Stahl & Murray, 1994). Phonological awareness can be measured independently of reading because it neither relies on nor addresses orthographic representations (Dyer et al., 2003).

The ability of relating orthographic to phonological forms is a more complex phonological skill called *phonemic decoding* (also known as phonological decoding) — a process through which speech sounds are mapped onto the orthographic symbols that they represent, and vice versa (Dyer et al., 2003). Unlike phonological awareness, phonemic decoding abilities are thought to emerge with reading acquisition and early reading development; however, these two skills are not completely independent, as

phonological decoding clearly relies to some extent on the awareness of phonemes and the ability to identify and manipulate them (Tunmer & Nesdale, 1982). These skills are often reflected in the literature as one factor representing phonological abilities (Dyer et al., 2003; Compton, DeFries, & Olson, 2001; for a detailed review of phonology and reading, see Goswami & Bryant, 2016).

2.2.3 Semantics

Semantics refers to meaning, which is the relationship between words, phrases, sentences, or passages and what they represent. At the word level, orthographic and phonological representations are associated with specific meanings and contexts, which are stored as representations in the *mental lexicon* — a theoretical construct referring to the mental store of an individual's vocabulary and associated semantic information (Thomason, 2012). Semantics is directly associated with reading comprehension, as word meaning is clearly needed in order to both map orthographic and phonological information to a concrete representation of an object, action, concept, etc., and use this fundamental, word-level semantic information to comprehend larger-scale printed messages (i.e., phrases, sentences, discourse).

2.2.4 Additional Factors Contributing to Reading Ability

It should be noted that there are additional cognitive, linguistic, and environmental factors that are known to contribute to reading abilities, such as morphology (word structure; Bryant & Nunes, 2004; Pacton & Deacon, 2008; Nation & Castles, 2007), reading exposure (Cepeda et al., 2006), explicit instruction (Bus & Van Ijzendoorn, 1999; Chall, 1987), writing (Fitzgerald & Shanahan, 2000; Zhang et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2004), and sentence-level syntax and discourse (Nystrand, 2006; Landi et al., 2006); however, these skills are outside the scope of this study, and were not addressed in the experimental design.

2.3 STAGE MODELS OF READING DEVELOPMENT

In an effort to understand the relative contributions of orthography, phonology, and semantics throughout reading development, many experts have characterized the related patterns of change as developmental stages (Frith, 1985; Chall, 1996; Wolf, 2008; Ehri, 1991; Gunning, 2010), which allows for a more structured conceptualization of this complex, dynamic process. The term "stages" is used with a caveat in the reading literature, however, as the development of reading-related skills is thought to be continuous and overlapping (Chall, 1996) with individual variability in the timing and extent to which different skills are achieved (Oulette & van Daal, 2017) — qualities that do not fit the typical implications of the term (i.e., patterns that are discrete and sequential).

Although this inherent variability is reflected in the different stage models of reading (e.g., specific verbiage, number of stages, approximate ages of skill acquisition), the overarching patterns of change are consistent across models and can be subsumed under the following classifications: pre-reading; early and novice reading; and skilled reading.

2.3.1. Pre-Reading

The term *pre-reading* encompasses the stages of reading development that typically occur from birth to six years (Chall, 1996; Wolf, 2008), during which time children with no preexisting literacy skills begin to develop oral vocabulary (i.e., stored phonological and semantic representations of spoken words in the mental lexicon), as

well as phonological awareness and emergent literacy (i.e., a basic awareness and knowledge of print). It should be acknowledged that although the label "pre-reading" is commonly used in the reading literature, this terminology does not take into consideration individuals of any age who do not develop literacy skills, given that reading is not an innate developmental process. These individuals are sometimes differentiated in the literature as *non-readers*.

2.3.1.1 The Importance of Spoken Language

Pre-reading children form early whole-word phonological and semantic representations for hundreds of words through exposure to spoken language. They learn to apply this knowledge in order to interact with their environments (e.g., labeling, requesting, commenting; Roth et al., 2006), thereby developing a basic understanding of the fundamental importance and purpose of language. Spoken word knowledge and the development of early oral vocabulary are thought to play important roles in the early stages of learning to read (Frost, 1998).

Spoken language also facilitates the development of phonological awareness in pre-reading children. They begin to understand that individual sounds (e.g., learning and reciting the alphabet) comprise the internal structure of the whole-word phonological units previously stored in the mental lexicon (Hu, 2003; Studdert-Kennedy & Goodell, 1995; Walley, 1993). They learn to manipulate these phonemes through a number of different activities involving spoken language, such as generating rhyming word pairs (e.g., dog - frog), experimenting with alliteration (e.g., *little lizards leaping*), and isolating sounds in spoken words (e.g., recognizing that *mommy* starts with */m/*; Roth et al., 2006; Bryant et al. 1990). The development of phonological awareness is pivotal, as

this skill is considered to be the foundation for later-developing grapheme-phoneme associations (Chall, 1996; Ziegler & Goswami, 2005), which ultimately facilitates early spelling and word reading (Fitzgerald & Shanahan, 2000).

2.3.1.2 Emergent Literacy

In addition to spoken language, children also rely on early exposure to print in order to develop emergent literacy skills. Emergent literacy constitutes a basic awareness and knowledge of print without any true knowledge of individual orthographic forms (Children's Literacy Initiative, 2017). Through continuous print exposure, children begin to recognize, very rudimentarily, that these written forms represent spoken language. As such, they begin to show an interest in books, reading, and listening to others read — an emergent literacy skill referred to as print motivation (Neumann et al., 2013). Through observation, instruction, and experimentation, children begin to strengthen their print concepts. They begin to hold and manipulate books correctly and understand that written language is organized in a specific direction (e.g., left to right in English and many other languages). They may pretend to read while observing the pages of a familiar book, or even retell familiar stories from memory while turning and scanning the pages. These emergent literacy skills have all been recognized as important contributors to later reading success (Nichols et al., 2004; Campbell, 1998).

2.3.2 Early and Novice Reading

Early and novice reading capture the stages of development that are thought to occur between six and eight (Chall, 1996) or nine (Wolf, 2008) years of age. They signify the initial acquisition and development of basic, low-level reading abilities. The transition from emergent literacy to early reading (also referred to as conventional reading; Sulzby,

1992; Riley, 1995) is achieved as children begin to encode printed letters as a very specific class of visual input and convert this input into conceptual linguistic representations (Perfetti & Liu, 2005). In other words, early readers begin to recognize orthographic forms as representations of the words learned through spoken language, and proceed to map these representations to their stored phonological and semantic information. In the early stages of reading, it is thought that children learn novel orthographic forms via two different modalities: *sight word reading* and *phonemic decoding*.

2.3.2.1 Sight Word Reading

Sight word reading describes the process through which children learn the orthographic representation of a word as whole unit, either by forming associations between the visual features of the word and its meaning (e.g., associating the tail of the letter *g* in the word *dog* as a visual cue representing a dog's tail; Gough & Hillinger, 1980; Rieben & Perfetti, 2013), or simply by committing the whole-word orthographic form to memory through repeated pairing of its visual and auditory representations (Huo & Wang, 2017). Sight word reading is considered to be an effective strategy in the early stages of learning to read because children are typically only exposed to a small number of written words — the majority of which are regular and high frequency (e.g., animal names, common objects; Kear & Gladhart, 1983). Sight word reading allows children to rapidly access the meanings of a small subset of written words through unique associations between print and phonology/semantics without needing to apply grapheme-phoneme correspondences.

Sight word reading is also important for learning the orthographic representations of irregular words, or words that do not have typical orthographic-to-phonological mappings (e.g., *pint*, *yacht*). Irregular words require the reader to have some form of exposure to and/or instruction of its spoken form in order to map the whole-word orthographic code directly to its phonological and semantic codes. Because the typical relationship between orthography and phonology is compromised in the case of irregular words (Wang et al., 2013), sight word reading continues to be a necessary strategy for learning novel irregular orthographic forms throughout reading development, even with the development of additional reading-related skills (Ehri, 2005).

With the exception of irregular words, the use of sight word reading as a primary strategy for learning novel orthographic forms becomes increasingly insufficient throughout reading development, as the number of novel printed words to which children are exposed increases rapidly (e.g., estimates of 10,000 new words per year for an average fifth grader; Nagy & Herman, 1987), and the visual features of these written forms become increasingly less distinct. Furthermore, children also begin to encounter words in text that they have never heard before: novel letter strings for which they have no preexisting phonological or semantic representations. As such, children must adopt a more systematic, generalizable strategy in order to learn both the meanings and spelling patterns of new words (Ricketts et al., 2011).

2.3.2.2 Phonemic Decoding

A more systematic strategy for reading that early readers are thought to develop is phonemic decoding: a child's ability to use grapheme-phoneme correspondences to decode unfamiliar orthographic forms into spoken forms, and then apply their knowledge

of the spoken word form to access its meaning – ultimately giving them access to the hundreds or even thousands of words stored in their mental lexicons (Share, 1995). Phonemic decoding also allows children to learn novel orthographic forms for which they have no existing phonological or semantic representations; however, in this case, the word's meaning must be derived from context (e.g., pictures, surrounding written words and sentences, environmental cues, pragmatic cues) or explicit instruction. Although it is more generalizable than sight word reading, phonemic decoding is thought to be cognitively laborious, and consequently, the early use of this strategy as a primary reading mechanism is generally slow and inefficient (Oulette & van Daal, 2017).

2.3.2.3 Novice Readers

As children continue to gain experience with written and spoken language, they begin to read more fluently and efficiently by consolidating the skills that they have developed throughout early reading (i.e., sight word vocabulary, grapheme-phoneme correspondences, phonemic decoding, use of context). At this stage, children are considered to be novice readers: readers that have mastered basic low-level reading skills, and that possess different strategies for reading that can be integrated as needed. In the literature, novice readers are described as becoming 'unglued from print' (Chall, 1996), as their decoding skills become stronger and the process of decoding a novel orthographic form and accessing its meaning is less overt and effortful. Ungluing from print allows readers to focus less on decoding the letters and more on meaning and context (Fitzgerald & Shanahan, 2000).

2.3.3 Skilled Reading

At approximately eight or nine years of age (Chall, 1996), children begin to develop more skilled reading, which is characterized by a reader's fluency (speed and accuracy of reading) and comprehension (the ability to understand the meaning of what is read; Pikulski & Chard, 2005). Skilled reading can be described as the effortless, accurate recognition of an orthographic representation (Share, 2004), and the efficient, rapid mapping of this representation to its meaning and phonology (Pikulski & Chard, 2005; Nation & Snowling, 1998; Deacon, 2015).

Skilled readers are able to efficiently and seemingly automatically recognize visual word forms and access their meanings without the need for conscious grapheme-phoneme correspondence — reflecting a more robust form of sight word reading. The comparatively effortless nature of skilled reading allows the reader to focus not on the act of reading itself, but instead on the use of reading as a learning tool for fostering new knowledge and new skills. Skilled reading continues to mature into adolescence and adulthood, as the complexity and breadth of the texts that are read increases (e.g., expository and narrative texts, texts with multiple viewpoints), and the purpose of reading becomes highly individualized and integrated into daily life (Chall, 1996).

2.4 THE DUAL ROUTE MODEL OF READING

It is clear that within the stage models of reading, each stage is characterized by changes in the mechanisms recruited for written word processing. Another prominent model of reading called the dual route model (Coltheart, 2001), offers an alternative yet complementary conceptualization of these mechanisms — one that is more continuous and word-specific.

According to the dual route model, there are two separate yet interactive routes that develop over time and facilitate the process of reading. One route is called the *direct route* (also described as the lexical route), through which words are read via direct access to their orthographic (spelling), phonological (pronunciation), and semantic (meaning) representations already stored in the mental lexicon. The second route is referred to as the *indirect route* (also described as the non-lexical route) — a less efficient system that requires grapheme-phoneme conversion with no initial reference to the mental lexicon (Coltheart et al., 2001; Dien, 2009).

Reading via the direct route requires activation of word-specific representations (orthographic, phonological, and semantic) stored in memory. As such, all familiar words, both regular and irregular, can be processed through this route, as they are all stored in the mental lexicon. On the other hand, unfamiliar written words are unable to be processed through this route because they do not have stored lexical representations (Rapcsak et al., 2007). These unfamiliar words must be processed through the indirect route, which does not require whole-word representations, but instead processes written words via grapheme-phoneme correspondence rules. The indirect route is able to process any letter strings that follow these correspondence rules (e.g., unfamiliar regular words, as they are in violation of these rules and would be read via this route with regularization errors (e.g., *yacht* read as a rhyming word for *matched*; Sheriston, 2016).

So, within the context of this framework, children in the early stages of reading development who have limited exposure to a small subset of written words, rely primarily on the indirect route for written word processing. They must use written-to-spoken

language conversion rules to establish knowledge of new orthographic forms and their corresponding representations, which allows them to expand their mental lexicons and store this information for future access. Children with more experience and exposure to written word forms are thought to rely less on decoding, as they have established representations for many more words in their mental lexicons and are able to process written words via the direct route — the mechanism that constitutes skilled reading (Sheriston, 2016).

2.5 REAL WORLD IMPLICATIONS OF SKILLED READING

It is well-acknowledged that skilled reading is important for academic achievement, professional success, and social integration (Lloyd, 1978; Hernandez, 2011; Cohen et al., 2018). Unfortunately, however, there is a substantial amount of documented individual variability in the ease and speed with which skilled reading is achieved (Cohen et al., 2018), and critically, some children never achieve skilled reading (Juel, 1988). This spectrum of reading abilities has substantial real-world implications.

One longitudinal study (N = 4000) reported that students who did not read skillfully by the third grade were four times more likely to leave school without a diploma than skilled readers (Hernandez, 2011). An additional longitudinal study concluded that children who did not achieve skilled reading by grade 3 showed decreased levels of college enrolment and vocational achievement (Lesnick et al., 2010). Studies have also shown that children who are slower to develop reading skills lag behind academically even when other cognitive abilities are comparable to same-aged peers (Gabrieli et al., 2011; Chall et al., 1990), and demographic characteristics are included as controls (Lesnick et al., 2010).

2.6 THE TRANSITION TO SKILLED READING

This variability in skilled reading acquisition certainly reiterates the need to understand the nature of its development. Although the stage and dual route models of reading offer useful accounts of larger-scale developmental changes (i.e., the transition from a reading mechanism that is primarily reliant on alphabet decoding, to one that recognizes words rapidly and holistically; Rack et al., 1994; Nation & Castles, 2017), they fall short in describing the skills that drive these changes (Quinn et al., 2017; Rack et al., 1994; Nation & Snowling, 1998; Deacon, 2015). As such, the central question that remains is *how* novice readers transition to a more efficient, seemingly automatic system of word recognition and comprehension. In other words, which underlying skills facilitate the transition to skilled reading?

Although relatively unaccounted for in the general models of reading, the ambiguity of this transition is certainly not for lack of investigation. The nature of these neurocognitive changes has been a topic of debate among reading researchers for several decades. As a result, a substantial body of research has developed that is specifically committed to investigating the skills that contribute to the development of skilled reading.

2.7 THEORIES OF SKILLED READING DEVELOPMENT

2.7.1 The Self-Teaching Hypothesis

The self-teaching hypothesis (Share, 1995) is a prominent theory of reading development that emphasizes the importance of phonemic decoding in successful word reading through its role in forming new orthographic representations; a process called *orthographic learning* (Share, 2008). This theory proposes that by engaging in

phonological decoding, children consequently teach themselves unique orthographic representations via print-to-sound translation (Conners et al., 2011), while simultaneously accumulating knowledge about the rule-based orthography of the language (e.g., regularities, exceptions, and conventions; Nation & Castles, 2017).

For each successfully decoded orthographic representation, there is an opportunity for direct connections to be formed between the orthographic and spoken representations of the word (Nation & Castles, 2017; Nation et al., 2007), and it is through these connections that the orthographic lexicon is formed. The stored representations then become accessible for when these same orthographic forms are encountered in the future, which results in a more direct route to word reading (Oulette & van Daal, 2017), consistent with the dual-route model of reading. Through continued exposure to and experience with printed language, and as readers continue to decode and store new orthographic forms, they are thought to be able to store longer, more detailed orthographic representations, reducing the need for explicit phoneme-grapheme conversions (Share, 2004; Oulette & van Daal, 2017) — a concept that is been supported by other theories of reading (Ehri 2005; Ehri 2014; Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Rack et al., 1994).

2.7.1.1 The Role of Context and Meaning

Context is also thought to be important when an unfamiliar orthographic form is encountered, according to Share's hypothesis (Share, 1995; Nation & Castles, 2017). When a novel orthographic form — one for which the reader has no preexisting phonological or semantic associations — is encountered in a particular context, the word's semantic information can often be determined using the surrounding semantic, syntactic, or pragmatic information (Cain et al., 2003; Ricketts et al., 2011). This process is called *semantic learning*. Studies have shown that scores on assessments of reading comprehension (Swanborn & de Glopper, 2002) and existing vocabulary (Cain et al., 2004; Ewers & Brownson, 1999) significantly predict a child's semantic learning, or their ability to determine the meaning of new words from context based on their ability to accurately read, understand, and make use of the information to learn the new words.

The effects of context on orthographic learning have been variable in the literature, however — with some studies concluding that it supports word reading (Archer & Bryant, 2001; Nation & Snowling, 1998), others reporting no effect of context (Cunningham, 2006; Ricketts et al., 2008), and some even finding reduced orthographic learning for words learned in context (Landi et al., 2006; Stuart et al., 2000). This variability is thought to be related to reading ability. Landi and colleagues (2006) reported that children with lower levels of reading ability (measured by oral reading accuracy) showed poorer word retention for novel orthographic forms learned in context compared to those learned in isolation. They attributed this finding to the idea that lower-level readers need to devote more cognitive resources to the orthographic and phonological mappings of a word as they decode it, and context acts as a form of distraction for these resources, resulting in less skilled readers failing to encode the appropriate information about the novel word.

2.7.1.2 Modeling the Self-Teaching Hypothesis

The self-teaching hypothesis has also been investigated using computational models of reading. Computational models add a greater level of precision to data analyses and are useful for manipulating very particular variables to simulate different levels of

skill or development (e.g., simulating specific reading disabilities; Nation & Castles, 2017).

One model that has been used to study the self-teaching hypothesis is the Dual-Route Cascaded model (DRC; see Coltheart et al., 2001) — a computational version of the dual-route model based on the information processing system involved in visual word reading (for a detailed review of the neural regions implicated in the DRC, see Dien, 2009; for an additional review of computational models of visual word reading, see Barber & Kutas, 2007). Pritchard and colleagues (2014) modeled the self-teaching mechanism by starting with a functional indirect route and an existing oral vocabulary, then introducing novel written words to be processed by the indirect route. One important finding was that the introduction of context was most beneficial when the attempt to decode phonologically was only partially successful (e.g., for irregular novel words or exceptions to typical orthographic and phonological rules), which supports both the phonological decoding and context components of the self-teaching hypothesis.

2.7.2 The Lexical Quality Hypothesis

Another important theory of reading is called the lexical quality hypothesis (Perfetti & Hart, 2002). Unlike the self-teaching hypothesis, which addresses the acquisition of novel representations, the lexical quality hypothesis focuses on the role of acquired lexical representations in the development of skilled reading — particularly comprehension skills. In the literature (Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Perfetti, 2007), lexical quality refers to the extent to which readers' phonological, orthographic, and semantic representations are precise (e.g., the ability to differentiate *four* vs. *flour*), flexible (e.g., the ability to recognize the synonymy between *late fees* and *fees incurred by failing to*

return the item by the required date), and efficiently integrated (i.e., easily retrieved from memory stores; for detailed examples, see Perfetti & Hart, 2001; Perfetti & Hart, 2002). Precise, flexible and efficiently integrated representations are described as having high lexical quality.

The lexical quality hypothesis posits that comprehension of a written word is greatly impacted by the lexical quality of its mental representations, whereby individual differences in the quantity and quality of these representations corresponds to individual differences in reading comprehension (Perfetti, 2007). High quality representations minimize confusion about a word's orthographic form, and consequently, its meaning, which leads to faster more automatic processing (i.e., efficient retrieval of the phonological and semantic information corresponding to the orthographic form) and leaves more cognitive resources for comprehension processes (Perfetti, 2007). Low quality representations, on the other hand, result in effortful retrieval, which can jeopardize comprehension through inefficient processing and the simultaneous activation/retrieval of more than one word (Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Mimeau et al., 2018).

The consequences of lexical quality can be well-observed, even in skilled readers, by considering different conditions in which the orthographic, phonological, and/or semantic representations of a word are not precise and well-defined, but instead are ambiguous, irregular, or lack one-to-one mapping (Perfetti & Hart, 2002). For example, reduced lexical quality can occur when one orthographic form represents one phonological form, but has more than one meaning (e.g., *crane*); when one orthographic form represents different phonological forms and consequently different meanings (e.g., *live*); and when two orthographic forms represent a single phonological form, but have

two meanings (e.g., *seed* and *cede*; Parfetti & Hart, 2002). These ambiguities can reduce efficiency and speed of processing, which can confound the comprehension of these words.

Given that this phenomenon is present in skilled readers, for novice readers or less skilled readers with fewer high quality representations (e.g., some orthographic/phonological representation of a word, but an inaccurate or absent semantic representation; Perfetti & Hart, 2002), one might assume that this effect would be stronger and more frequent. Indeed, this assumption has been supported by findings in the literature. For example, Perfetti and Hart (2002) presented participants with written stimulus pairs: one real word and one non-word that posed a threat to lexical quality (e.g., *wails*, which has the same phonological representation as *whales* but does not share the same orthographic or semantic information). They asked participants to determine whether the words were related in meaning, and found that less skilled readers took longer to process these pairs and were more likely to confuse the threat with its real-word counterpart (for a review of additional supporting evidence, see Perfetti, 2007).

2.8 Studies on Orthographic and Semantic Learning

It is evident that a common theme throughout the theories of reading development seems to be the implication of orthographic and semantic learning (commonly referred to as ortho-semantic learning) in the transition to skilled reading (i.e., fluent word reading and comprehension; Oulette & van Daal, 2017; Cunningham, 2006; Ricketts et al., 2011; Bowey & Miller, 2007; Share, 2004; Perfetti & Hart, 2002). As such, it is unsurprising that studies investigating these hypotheses have directed much of their attention to understanding ortho-semantic learning abilities.
2.8.1 Ortho-Semantic Learning Paradigm

Many studies in the literature have implemented different adaptations of a paradigm originally developed and implemented by Share (1999) in order to investigate orthographic learning (Cunningham, 2006; Bowey & Miller, 2007; Ricketts et al., 2011; Tucker et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2011; Mimeau et al., 2018) and semantic learning (Cain et al., 2003; Ricketts et al., 2008; Ricketts et al., 2011) throughout reading development. In this paradigm, children typically read short, four- to five-sentence stories that introduce a novel word (i.e., a string of letters that satisfy typical grapheme-phoneme rules, but for which children have no preexisting orthographic, phonological, or semantic representations; e.g., *kleb*), and then provide some context for the word, such that children can infer its meaning (e.g., *The kleb is used to get juice from oranges*). After reading the stories, children are asked to choose the correct spelling and meaning of these words from four different written-word and picture choices, respectively, serving as a measure of their ability to learn these new orthographic forms and their corresponding meanings.

2.8.2 Ortho-Semantic Learning and Reading Ability

Many studies using adaptations of this paradigm have reported significant correlations between ortho-semantic learning and reading ability. Bowey & Miller (2007) found that orthographic learning scores, as measured by the orthographic choice task described above, were associated with scores of both word reading accuracy and comprehension — a finding that has been supported by several other studies (Cunningham, 2006; Ricketts et al., 2011). Similar conclusions have been drawn with regard to semantic learning, with reports of significant correlations between semantic

learning and both reading fluency and comprehension in 8-year-old children (Ricketts et al., 2011), as well as reports of impaired semantic learning for 8- and 9-year-old children with reading comprehension difficulties (Cain et al., 2003; Ricketts et al., 2008).

2.8.3 A Novel Approach

Although these findings provide evidence for a relationship between orthosemantic learning and reading ability (i.e., word-reading and comprehension), the primary approach of the previous studies was to investigate the *predictors* of orthosemantic learning, with the thought that if a particular variable accounts for unique variance in orthographic or semantic learning ability, then that variable must be involved in its development (Nation & Castles, 2017). As such, these associations were all reported as zero-order correlations signifying word reading and comprehension as predictors of ortho-semantic learning, but were not addressed in the main findings, as orthographic learning was found to be best predicted by phonemic decoding and orthographic knowledge (Bowey & Miller, 2007; Cunningham, 2006; Ricketts et al., 2011), and semantic learning was most strongly predicted by semantic knowledge (Ricketts et al., 2011).

A recent subset of the literature has further examined the relationship between ortho-semantic learning and reading ability by turning the investigations to the skills that are predicted *by* ortho-semantic learning, which is a novel contribution to the body of literature on skilled reading development. Mimeau and colleagues (2018) used an adaptation of the ortho-semantic learning paradigm to investigate whether individual differences in orthographic and semantic learning predicted differences in word reading (as measured by fluency and accuracy) and comprehension in grade 3 children, while

controlling for ortho-semantic knowledge among other reading-related skills. They found that orthographic learning had a direct effect on word reading (congruent with the selfteaching hypothesis) and an indirect effect on comprehension via word reading. Furthermore, they found that semantic learning had a direct effect on reading comprehension (in line with the lexical quality hypothesis), but no direct effect on word reading, contrary to what they had hypothesized.

2.9 LIMITATIONS OF BEHAVIOURAL RESEARCH

Although these findings provide some indication as to the skills that best predict reading outcomes, they are based solely on behavioural assessments and analyses, and do not provide concrete predictions at the neural level (Mechelli et al., 2003). Understanding the neural processes underlying behavioural findings is of particular importance in the case of skilled reading development, as the current body of behavioural literature is clearly still relatively inconclusive in terms of the relative contributions of underlying skills (Deacon et al., 2012; Conrad & Deacon, 2016; Vellutino et al., 1994).

One prominent method of investigating neural processes related to reading is a neurophysiological recording technique called electroencephalography (EEG).

2.10 NEUROPHYSIOLOGICAL MEASUREMENTS OF READING

2.10.1 Electroencephalography

Neuroimaging techniques such as EEG have proven to be effective tools for developing a more precise and detailed understanding of language processing and language development. EEG is sensitive to changes in the electrical current that is generated by the flow of charged particles across the neuronal membrane; specifically, currents from the synaptic excitation of pyramidal dendrites in the cerebral cortex

(Teplan, 2002; Luck, 2005). These weak voltage fluctuations are directly measured in real time using scalp electrodes, and then amplified, offering an electrophysiological measure of neural activity on a millisecond timescale (Maurer & McCandliss, 2007). In raw form, however, EEG signals are difficult to interpret relative to any specific neurocognitive processes, as the signals measured at the scalp are actually the summation of hundreds of individual sources, changing rapidly over time (Luck, 2005). The spatial resolution of EEG data is also limited because the scalp and surrounding tissues directly interfere with the electrical signal, distributing or "smearing" it across the surface of the scalp (Kutas & Federmeier, 2011).

2.10.2 Event-Related Potentials

In order to extract information about EEG responses that are specific to sensory, motor, or cognitive events, it is possible to time- and phase-lock the EEG signals to the event. These waveforms, representing stimulus-specific brain activity, are called eventrelated potentials (ERPs). ERPs are useful tools in studying neural activity associated with language and reading because they provide excellent temporal resolution, allowing for a quantitative, real-time account of the activity on a millisecond timescale, making it a more precise measure of cognitive processes.

2.10.3 ERP Components

The peaks and troughs of the ERP waveforms at each electrode can be characterized in terms of components: features of the waveform that have consistent timing, scalp distribution, and polarity, and are associated with a particular cognitive process (Maurer & McCandliss, 2007; Luck, 2005). Conventionally, ERP components are named in terms of their polarity at peak electrodes (i.e., either 'N' denoting negative

polarity or 'P' denoting positive polarity), as well as a number, which specifies the typical latency of the peak amplitude of the waveform in milliseconds (e.g., '400' denoting a consistent peak around 400 ms; Dien, 2009). An additional label is also included in many cases, denoting the general electrode site where the ERP component amplitude is largest (e.g., fronto-temporal; Teplan, 2002; Maurer & McCandliss, 2007).

2.11 ERP INDICES OF WORD READING

ERPs can provide useful insights into the rapid visual word processing involved in reading, in order to better investigate the neural mechanisms involved at different stages of reading development (Sánchez-Vincitore et al., 2017). There are several ERP components associated with reading that all typically occur within the first second after a word is read (Dien, 2009).

2.11.1 The P1

One of the earliest components is called the P1; a positive voltage deflection, greatest over lateral occipital regions, occurring around 100 to 150 ms after a word is read. The P1 is thought to index low-level visual-perceptual processing that occurs prior to the parsing of letters to form complete words (Dien, 2009), and indeed the P1 is not specific to words but is elicited by the onset of any visual stimulus (Luck, 2005). Studies have found that the P1 is sensitive to word length (larger amplitude P1 for longer words; Hauk & Pulvermuller, 2004), and orthographic regularities such as bigram and trigram frequencies (i.e., how often two or three letters occur together) — with larger positive amplitudes found for less frequent letter sequences (Hauk et al., 2006).

2.11.2 The P150

Shortly after the P1, at about 150 ms, is another positive peak called the P150, which is maximal over the vertex — the electrode site over the top of the head. In the neurocognitive literature on reading, the P150 appears to reflect an early, low-level perceptual sensitivity to whole words compared to other non-lexical stimuli, such as object pictures (Schendan et al., 1998) and strings of written symbols (Maurer et al., 2010). It was also found to be sensitive to word frequency (Proverbio et al., 2004). Because of its close temporal proximity to other ERP components indexing reading, the P150 is sometimes considered to be a later portion (later peak latency) of the P1 component (Sereno, 1998), as well as the positive pole of the next closest reading-related component: the N170 (Joyce & Rossion, 2005).

2.11.3 The N170

The N170 is a negative-going deflection, peaking between 150 and 200 (Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005) or 250 ms (Brem, 2013) after visual stimulus presentation. It is sometimes referred to in the literature as a subcomponent of the robust visual N1 component, which is typically thought to reflect an early response to visual stimulation and is linked to visual selective attention, visual discrimination processes, and matching new visual stimuli to those previously experienced (Haider et al., 1964; Mangun & Hillyard, 1991; Sur & Sinha, 2009).

Although the N170 is sometimes referred to as N1 in the literature, this component has been found to have its own discrete sensitivities related to different classes of visual stimuli (Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005). In the reading literature, there is a substantial body of evidence reporting a left-lateralized (Schendan et al., 1998; Bentin

et al., 1999; Brem et al., 2005; Rossion et al., 2003; Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005) occipito-temporal negativity that is typically elicited by two different categories of printed stimuli: letter-based and non-letter stimuli. Letter-based stimuli maintain the orthographic characteristics of printed letters. Stimuli in this category include real words (lexically and orthographically valid), non-words (pronounceable letter strings that violate typical orthographic rules and are not lexically valid), pseudo-words (pronounceable letter strings that follow typical orthographic rules but are not lexically valid), and consonant strings (unpronounceable letters strings that violate orthographic rules and are not lexically valid). Non-letter stimuli are typically presented in the form of symbols or symbol strings and are visually and perceptually similar to printed letters in terms of their size and composition, but are easily distinguished from real letters. These are sometimes referred to as false fonts. Contrasting neural responses to these stimuli allows for a more in-depth understanding of the ways in which the visual brain areas support the process of reading (Maurer et al., 2010). Studies using such contrasts in the literature have generally reported two different N170 effects in adult readers: print tuning and lexical tuning.

2.11.3.1 Print Tuning

The term *print tuning* reflects the finding in neurophysiological research that the N170 is sensitive to printed, letter-based stimuli. This tuning is indicated by a larger amplitude N170 for letter strings than for non-letter symbols such as false fonts (Bentin et al., 1999); a finding which has been replicated many times (Brem et al., 2005; Eulitz et al., 2000; Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Schendan, et al., 1998; Tarkiainenet al., 1999; Zhang et al., 1997). Some studies also report a larger N170

for all letter-based stimulus types (consonant strings, words, and pseudo-words) compared to non-letter stimuli (shapes, symbols, pseudo-letters or false fonts; Bentin et al., 1999; Simon et al., 2004), expanding the concept of print tuning to a sensitivity to all forms of letter-based stimuli. Print tuning is thought to reflect an efficient, visualperceptual identification mechanism that is specialized for letter-based printed forms compared to symbols and other stimuli that control for visual features (Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Bentin et al., 1999). This perceptual expertise is so automatic in adult skilled readers that it can even be found during tasks involving written words that do not require active reading (Bentin et al., 1999; Eulitz et al., 2000; Maurer et al., 2010).

2.11.3.2 Lexical Tuning

Some studies have also found differential sensitivities of the N170 to orthographic patterns within the different letter-based stimuli. One of the primary findings from such studies is a left-lateralized, larger amplitude N170 for consonant strings than words, with the amplitude in response to pseudo-words falling in between (Compton et al., 1991; McCandliss et al., 1997). This finding is referred to in the literature as lexical tuning — a smaller, less robust effect than print tuning indexing higher-level linguistic processing and specialization (e.g., sensitivity to orthographic regularities; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005). The lexical tuning effect for pseudo-words is less consistent in the literature, with other studies reporting no significant amplitude difference between words and pseudo-words (Bentin et al., 1999; Wydell et al., 2003; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Hauk et al., 2006) and even the opposite effect, with a larger amplitude for words over pseudo-words (Maurer et al., 2006). There are currently no concrete explanations in the literature as to why this variability exists and what mediates it, other than the suggestion that variability in task requirements across studies might lead to differential results (see Maurer & McCandliss, 2007).

2.11.3.3 Additional Sensitivities of the N170

It should be noted that the N170 is also considered to be an index of perceptual expertise related to other classes of visual stimuli such as faces and objects (Rossion et al., 2000; Hinojosa et al., 2015; Eimer, 2000). The face sensitivity of the N170 is well-researched, primarily through manipulations of facial angles (see the face inversion effect; Jacques et al., 2007), facial race (Vizioli et al., 2010), and emotion (Righart et al., 2008; Blau et al., 2007). Although the N170 elicited in response to faces and objects is also strongest over occipto-temporal areas (for a detailed account of implicated neural regions see McCarthy et al., 1999), it is generally right-lateralized (Rossion & Jacques, 2008), further distinguishing it from the left-lateralized sensitivity to print that is likely related to the left hemisphere dominance for language processing more generally (Dehaene & Cohen, 2011).

2.11.4 The PMN and RE

The N170 is followed by several other components, all of which reflect different aspects of reading and lexical processing. The phonological mapping negativity (PMN), alternatively described as the phonological mismatch negativity, is a negative-going deflection that occurs between 250 ms and 300 ms post stimulus and is typically greatest over fronto-central regions (Desroches et al., 2008; Robson et al., 2017). Connolly and Phillips (1994) concluded that the PMN seems to reflect a process through which perceived words are compared to a phonological template that is developed by preceding

context (e.g., sentential context, preceding phonemic context). The PMN is typically investigated by contrasting containing phonemes that are either in violation of phonological expectations (i.e., incongruent with the phonemic and contextual template) or are congruent with phonological expectations (i.e., congruent with phonemic and contextual template) — either in words (Desroches et al., 2008; Newman et al., 2003) or sentences (Connolly et al. 1990). The amplitude of the PMN is found to be larger when the perceived stimulus violates phonological expectations.

Although research investigating the PMN has primarily addressed stimuli presented in the auditory modality, there are several reports of a PMN elicited by visual stimuli (i.e., written words and sentences; Rugg, 1984; Connolly et al., 1995), which also reflects phonological processing and shows a stronger response to written stimuli that violate phonological expectations.

Another ERP component that indexes a different form of phonological processing is the rhyming effect (RE). The RE component is typically elicited when a pair of written words are presented, and a phonemic judgement of rhyme is required (Rugg & Barrett, 1987; Sanquist et al., 1980). It has an onset similar to the PMN, around 250-300 ms after the onset of a target; however, it peaks much later at around 400-450 ms, and is maximally distributed across midline and right tempero-parietal sites. The RE is shown to have a substantially larger amplitude in response to non-rhyming compared to rhyming stimuli (Coch et al., 2005).

2.11.5 The N400

The N400 is arguably the best-studied language- and reading-related ERP component. It is a negative-going deflection peaking around 400 ms after stimulus onset,

and is thought to index aspects of lexical semantic processing, or processing involving word meaning (Kutas and Hillyard, 1983). The amplitude of the N400 is larger in response to stimuli that are low frequency (Van Petten & Kutas, 1990), less predictable (Kutas & Hillyard, 1983), and/or semantically anomalous (Kutas and Federmeier, 2011; Lau et al., 2008), suggesting that this component may be modulated by the amount of effort required to access the appropriate lexical representations in long-term memory (Lau et al., 2008) and to integrate this lexical information into the current context held in working memory (for a detailed review, see Kutas & Federmeier, 2011).

2.12 THE N170 AS A BIOMARKER OF READING DEVELOPMENT

Although all of the aforementioned ERP components have their own robust findings in adult studies of reading, the N170 has been the primary component of interest in ERP studies of reading involving children, as its amplitude and lateralization show characteristic patterns of change with age and reading ability, thus offering unique neurobiological insights into the processes involved in reading development.

2.12.1 Print Tuning Evidence

Developmental changes in the N170 amplitude and latency have been documented in a number of studies investigating typical reading development in children. Maurer and colleagues examined the development of N170 print tuning through a series of longitudinal studies. They first assessed pre-reading children in kindergarten (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005), and then reassessed the same children in second grade (Maurer et al., 2006) and fifth grade (Maurer et al., 2011) — comparing each dataset to adult skilled readers. Among the sample of children at the pre-reading age, the researchers compared those with higher and lower letter knowledge. N170 print tuning was effectively absent

(i.e., no difference between responses to words and symbols) in pre-reading kindergarten children with little-to-no letter knowledge, and marginally larger but right-lateralized for those with higher letter knowledge (unlike the strong left-lateralized sensitivity in adult readers). It was noted that the right lateralization seen in the later pre-reading stages may be more reflective of visual familiarity than language processing (i.e., recognition of printed letters as familiar visual stimuli through frequent exposure, rather than direct representations of language which would engage left hemisphere language areas; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Sánchez-Vincitore et al., 2017).

A bilateral print tuning effect emerged in the same children in grade 2, after they had mastered basic reading skills, supporting the idea that the specialization of this effect occurs after the beginning of reading training. It also provides evidence that the effect cannot be explained by general maturation, as this would affect both the sensitivity to words and symbol strings (Maurer et al., 2006). The amplitude of the N170 print tuning effect for children in grade 2 was significantly larger than the amplitude of the effect in the adult population. Furthermore, the amplitude of the N170 distinguished among children within this group of grade 2 readers, wherein the N170 print tuning was stronger (larger amplitude) for fluent readers than less fluent readers, based on behavioural assessments of fluency tested in grade 2 (Maurer et al., 2006).

In grade 5 readers they found a significant N170 print tuning effect for words compared to symbols; however, the print tuning effect in this group was more reflective of the adult effect, as it was found to be left-lateralized and with reduced amplitude compared to grade 2 readers. These results collectively suggest an early developmental peak in the N170 sensitivity to print that becomes reduced and more left-lateralized with

increasing age and/or reading development. Further evidence suggests that the print tuning effect is greatest before adolescence (~ 16 years of age), as no difference was found between the amplitudes of adolescent and adult groups (Brem et al., 2006).

These findings suggest that the development of N170 print tuning does not follow the previously hypothesized developmental trajectory (i.e., linear increase in strength throughout development; McCandliss & Noble, 2003; Cohen & Dehaene, 2004), but instead its development is non-linear (an inverted U-shape; Maurer et al., 2006), reflecting an early sensitivity to print that emerges concurrently with early reading development and then decreases with continued learning and experience. These findings have been attributed to the extensive, widespread plasticity within the neural networks recruited during the initial tuning to words, followed by the corresponding fine tuning of this specialization over time as patterns of neural activity are established (Sánchez-Vincitore et al., 2017; Maurer et al., 2007).

2.12.2 Lexical Tuning Evidence

Although the body of literature on the lexical tuning of the N170 is less robust than that of print tuning, there are several reports indicating that it also shows patterns of change throughout reading development — although as previously mentioned, these reports have been variable (McCandliss, 1997) with little explanation provided.

One developmental study (Posner & McCandliss, 2000) investigated N170 lexical tuning in a cross-sectional study of children ages four, seven, and ten (i.e., preschool, first grade, and fourth grade, respectively). They found no N170 lexical tuning effect in children who were initially learning to read (which they considered to be the four- and seven-year-old groups), but reported that the effect began to emerge over posterior left

hemisphere regions in 10-year-old children only for words compared to consonant strings (i.e., no effect for pseudo-words and consonant strings), suggesting that the lexical tuning of the N170 in 10-year-old children was emerging but not fully developed. Overall, they concluded that lexical tuning effects emerge gradually with the fine-tuning of visual word processing through reading experience and fluent visual word recognition. This finding is congruent with other studies reporting the emergence of a lexical tuning effect only after the first five years of reading instruction (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Posner & McCandliss, 2000; McCandliss & Noble, 2003).

Zhao and colleagues (2014), found an earlier left hemisphere N170 lexical tuning effect (i.e., larger amplitude for words compared to consonant strings) in seven-year-old German children, but only in those children with high reading ability, as measured by pseudo-word naming — an index of phonemic decoding skill (i.e., the speed and accuracy of phonemic decoding), which they acknowledged was crucial in the early stages of reading acquisition based on Share's (1995) self-teaching hypothesis. They noted that these lexical effects in younger but more skilled readers suggest a stronger influence of reading ability on developmental changes indexed by the N170 than of age on its own.

2.13 THE N170 AND BEHAVIOURAL MEASURES OF READING SKILLS

It is evident, based on the electrophysiological findings discussed above, that changes in N170 amplitude and lateralization throughout reading development index patterns of neural change associated with learning to read; however, these findings are generally reported to reflect a form of experience-driven visual specialization (i.e., expertise) specific to print, with only a few studies investigating the relationships

between N170 modulation and reading ability (fluency and comprehension) or — critically — the underlying skills and processes related to reading (i.e., orthography, phonology, and semantics).

Recent electrophysiological work has begun to consider these potential relationships. The most prominent hypothesis arising from this work is the phonological mapping hypothesis (Maurer & McCandliss, 2007), which focuses on progressive left lateralization of N170 print tuning throughout the early and novice stages of reading development and how this relates to the reading ability.

2.13.1 N170 Lateralization: The Phonological Mapping Hypothesis

The phonological mapping hypothesis posits that the shift of the N170 print tuning effect from the right hemisphere to the left occurs when orthographic and phonological subsystems are connected. In other words, the shift is caused by a strengthening of connections between the left hemisphere areas involved in phonological and visual processing through constant pairing during reading acquisition and development (Maurer & McCandliss, 2007; Sánchez-Vincitore et al., 2017).

This hypothesis is in line with findings from previously described studies in both the behavioural and electrophysiological research. For example, within the framework of this hypothesis, the early right lateralization of N170 print tuning found in pre-reading children with some awareness of and exposure to print (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005) reflects general visual familiarity and expertise, which is processed similarly to other visual stimuli (e.g., faces and objects) in right hemisphere areas. The N170 print tuning then transitions to a bilateral effect as phonological and visual areas are initially paired due to the early dependence on phonemic decoding that is reported in the behavioural

literature (i.e., the initial reliance on the indirect route in the dual route model of reading). The gradual shift in children with higher levels of reading to the left-lateralized N170 print tuning seen and in adults represents automatic connections between these areas (i.e., grapheme-to-phoneme automaticity), suggesting less reliance on phonemic decoding and more automatic, efficient mapping between orthography and stored representations (i.e., the direct route of the dual route model).

The phonological mapping hypothesis has implications for N170 lexical tuning as well. It is supported by studies reporting that the left-lateralized lexical tuning to print is absent in early readers and novice readers, and emerges in more skilled readers (as measured by pseudo-word reading speed and accuracy), which suggests again that this left-lateralized effect reflects phoneme-to-grapheme automaticity, fluent visual word processing (Posner & McCandliss, 2000), and corresponding higher-level linguistic processes associated with skilled reading (Zhao et al., 2014) carried out in left hemispheric temporal and frontal brain areas associated with language processing (Petersen and Fiez, 1993; Brem et al., 2006).

2.13.1.1 The Visual Word Form Area

One specific brain area that is considered to be the neural generator of this lateralized effect is the left midfusiform gyrus, which is located in the occipito-temporal cortex and is commonly referred to as the Visual Word Form Area (VWFA; Cohen & Dehaene, 2004). The VWFA was first labeled by Cohen and colleagues (2000), who posited that this area was specifically devoted to the processing of letter strings and could be observed in any literate individual. Polk and Farah (2002) further specified the nature of VWFA activation to printed words, suggesting that the sensitivity of the VWFA to print is not simply one of perceptual familiarity, but is instead reflective of abstract linguistic properties such as orthographic regularity.

The specialization of the VWFA to printed words has been supported by data from both neuroimaging and neuropsychological research. Studies using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) have reported greater activation for printed words compared to non-linguistic stimuli such as checkerboards (Cohen et al., 2002) and printed digits (Polk et al., 2002), as well as non-lexical stimuli (e.g., consonant stings; Cohen et al., 2002) and spoken words (Dehaene et al., 2002). Reports from neuropsychological studies of individuals with damage to the VWFA offer conclusions congruent with neuroimaging data, in that lesions in the VWFA result in impairments of reading that do not affect writing or auditory word comprehension, and only modestly affect printed numbers (pure alexia; Beversdorf et al., 1997; Leff et al., 2001; Starrfelt & Behrmann, 2011).

In recent years, the specificity of the VWFA has been challenged (Price & Devlin, 2003; 2011; Vogel et al., 2014); however, there is a corresponding body of literature suggesting that the hypothesis still holds — arguing primarily that findings implicating the VWFA in the processing of other non-word stimuli can be explained by its proximity to multimodal processing regions (Cohen & Dehaene, 2004), and does not detract from its critical contribution to visual word recognition (for additional arguments see Dehaene & Cohen, 2011). Despite opposing views on the terminology and concept of VWFA's specialization to print, it is widely acknowledged — even by VWFA supporters — that the process of reading is ultimately not limited to one neural region, but instead involves the recruitment of and connection between a much larger network (for a review see Fiez

& Petersen, 1998; Posner & McCandliss, 2000). This is consistent with the literature reviewed above, noting that there are a series of ERP components associated with different stages of word recognition in reading.

2.14 SUMMARY

The complex process of learning to read skillfully has been addressed in both the behavioural-psychological and neurophysiological fields of research. While both fields continue to refine their accounts of the factors contributing to this process, they do so largely independently of each other — focusing on different constructs, processes, measures, and theories.

In the behavioural literature, reading development is characterized in terms of the relative contributions of orthography, phonology, and semantics. Phonological skills are thought to play an important role in both the initial acquisition of reading and the development of early orthographic representations (Tunmer & Nesdale, 1982; Conrad & Deacon, 2016; Share, 1995; Bowey & Miller, 2007; Cunningham, 2006; Ricketts et al., 2011). As such, many findings in the behavioural research identify phonemic decoding skills and existing orthographic knowledge as the strongest predictors of reading ability in the early stages of reading development (Bowey & Miller, 2007; Ricketts et al., 2011). These findings are congruent with models of reading suggesting an early reliance on grapheme-phoneme correspondences to map visual words to their spoken forms in an effort to access word meaning — a process which is effortful and inefficient, as it employs an indirect route from visual word form recognition to semantics (Coltheart, 2001; Sheriston et al., 2016; Chall, 1996). Skilled reading, on the other hand, is thought to rely more on skills of ortho-semantic learning (Share, 1995) — a child's ability to

learn novel orthographic forms and their meanings, which facilitates the encoding of more robust, high-quality lexical representations that can be rapidly and directly accessed during future encounters (Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Coltheart, 2001).

The electrophysiological literature also reports developmental changes corresponding to experience with and exposure to print; however, these changes are primarily characterized as a gradual fine-tuning of neural processes involved in visual expertise and specialization for print. Electrophysiological markers of reading development have been indexed by the amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print tuning (i.e., the contrast of neural activity in response to visual real word and false font stimuli) and lexical tuning (i.e., visual real word and consonant string stimuli) effects.

The print tuning effect is reported to follow a U-shaped developmental trajectory: absent in pre-reading children with no letter knowledge, peaking in novice readers, and gradually decreasing into adolescence and adulthood (Maurer, Brem et al., 2005; Maurer et al., 2006; Maurer et al., 2011) — a trajectory which has been attributed to the initial widespread neural recruitment of basic object recognition processes, followed by the consequent fine-tuning of these pathways as the print recognition mechanism becomes more efficient and specialized (Maurer et al., 2011). The N170 print tuning effect is also thought to shift from right, to bilateral, to left hemisphere lateralization throughout reading development, which according to the phonological mapping hypothesis, reflects the strengthening of connections between left hemisphere regions devoted to visual and phonological processing (i.e., the development of grapheme-phoneme automaticity; Maurer & McCandliss, 2007). The lexical tuning effect, on the other hand, is thought to emerge concurrently with skilled reading over left hemisphere posterior regions,

reflecting the fine-tuning of both visual and lexical characteristics of printed words (e.g., orthographic regularities, or common patterns of printed letters).

Evidently, there are conceptual gaps between the accounts of reading development from these two fields that limit the ability to interpret them cohesively. While skilled reading undoubtedly requires some form of visual expertise and specialization to print, the electrophysiological construct of *tuning* is not found in behavioural studies of reading, making it difficult to determine the extent of the relationship between the developmental patterns in N170 print/lexical tuning and the patterns found in the relative contributions of underlying skills noted in the behavioural literature. Similarly, while basic functional relationships have been documented between reading ability and N170 print/lexical tuning amplitude and lateralization in the electrophysiological literature, little is offered by way of investigating the underlying skills that drive these readingrelated changes. Even the most prominent hypothesis in the ERP literature linking behavioural measures to changes in N170 characteristics (i.e., the phonological mapping hypothesis) is limited to a description of reading acquisition and early reading development, and does not directly address skilled reading development, nor the corresponding shift in the relative contributions of underlying skills that is evident in the behavioural literature (i.e., the later predictive value of ortho-semantic learning compared to phonemic decoding).

2.15 THE CURRENT STUDY

The goal of the current study was to bridge the conceptual gap between these two bodies of literature by investigating the relationship between behavioural and electrophysiological markers of reading development, in order to develop a more in depth

understanding of skilled reading in school-aged children. Specifically, this study aimed to determine how behavioural measures of orthographic and semantic learning — skills thought to be directly involved in the transition to skilled reading — relate to N170 print and lexical tuning, established neurophysiological markers of visual word expertise and higher-level lexical processing of print.

In order to do this, grade 3 participants (aged 8–9 years) first completed a series of behavioural assessments of reading-related skills, including an adaptation of a welldocumented ortho-semantic learning paradigm based on the self-teaching hypothesis of skilled reading development (Mimeau et al., 2018). Next, EEG was used to record participants' neural activity while they read letter-based and non-letter stimuli on a screen during a lexical decision task. The ERP data was then analyzed in a time window characteristic of the N170, and the mean amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print tuning (real words versus false font) and lexical tuning (real words versus consonant strings) were examined both at the group level and in relation to individual differences in scores of fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning. These investigations were conducted in order to answer the following research questions:

- Are characteristic group-level and fluency-modulated N170 print and lexical tuning effects present in this sample of grade 3 readers?
- Are the amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print and lexical tuning effects modulated by skills involved in intermediate stages of reading development — specifically orthographic and semantic learning?

2.16 Hypotheses

2.16.1 Research Question 1: Group-Level and Fluency-Modulated Print and Lexical Tuning

Previous ERP research has reported characteristic changes in the group-level N170 print and lexical tuning effects throughout reading development. This research has also provided evidence of individual differences in the N170 effects that are modulated by individual differences in reading fluency. These investigations, however, have included only individuals in kindergarten (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005), grade 2 (Maurer et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2014), grade 5 (Maurer et al., 2011), grade 12 (Brem et al., 2006), and into adulthood (Maurer et al., 2011; Brem et al., 2006), with no reports of potential changes unique to the ages and grade levels in between. Understanding differences in reading development in grade 3 readers should be of particular importance, given that grade 3 is considered to be a transitional stage in reading with high variability in reading skills — yet to date, there have been no ERP investigations specific to grade 3 readers. As such, this research serves as a replication-extension of previous group-level and individual difference findings that will offer novel insights into reading development as evidenced by ERP measures.

2.16.1.1 Group-Level N170 Effects

Based on previous group-level findings in the literature, I predicted that there would be a significant difference between the neural activity in response to real words and false font stimuli with a larger mean amplitude in response to real words, reflecting the presence of a group-level N170 print tuning effect in this sample of grade 3 readers. Furthermore, I expected that the group-level print tuning effect would be bilaterally

distributed, based on findings by Maurer and colleagues (2006; 2011), who reported a bilateral N170 print tuning effect in grade 2 readers, with group-level left lateralization emerging after additional years of reading experience in grade 5 readers.

The presence of a lexical tuning effect at the group level (i.e., a significant difference between the neural activity in response to real words and consonant strings, with a larger mean amplitude for consonant strings) was more exploratory in the context of this study, as this effect has been known to emerge later than print tuning, with some reports indicating that it is absent until approximately 10 years of age (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Posner & McCandliss, 2000; McCandliss & Noble, 2003).

2.16.1.2 Fluency-Modulated Print and Lexical Tuning

Based on previous findings, I hypothesized that individual differences in reading fluency would modulate individual differences in the print and lexical tuning effects, as reported in the literature throughout reading development. First, I predicted that more fluent readers would show a left-lateralized, reduced amplitude print tuning effect compared to less skilled readers, who would show a larger amplitude print tuning effect that was bilateral (i.e., no significant difference between hemispheres). Although the previous investigation of grade 2 readers revealed that fluency distinguished among this group wherein more fluent readers showed *larger* amplitude N170 print tuning effects, the reports of larger-scale developmental changes in print tuning (i.e., grade 2 readers compared to grade 5 readers; Maurer et al., 2011) suggest that more fluent readers (i.e., grade 5 readers) begin to show more left-lateralized, reduced amplitude print tuning effects compared to less skilled readers (grade 2 readers), reflecting fine-tuning of neural

processes involved in visual specialization for print. Given the high variability in reading skills among grade 3 readers and the corresponding range of fluency scores noted in the current study (range of age equivalent scores = 7;6 - 14;0), my hypothesis pertaining to fluency and print tuning was based on these larger-scale changes, suggesting that the variability within the grade 3 sample reflected broader developmental differences in reading ability than the within-group differences noted in grade 2 readers.

Second, I hypothesized that a left-lateralized lexical tuning effect would be present only for readers with higher scores of fluency, and that the lexical tuning effect in readers with lower scores of fluency would be absent. This hypothesis was based on previous reports suggesting that lexical tuning may be more dependent on reading ability than on age alone, as it was found in younger (seven-year-old) readers with higher scores of word reading (Zhao et al., 2014).

2.16.2 Research Question 2: Individual Differences in Ortho-semantic Learning and N170 Effects

This study is the first to relate measures obtained from the well-studied orthosemantic learning paradigm used in behavioural research to ERP measures of reading development, such as the N170 print and lexical tuning effects. As such, findings related to this research will provide foundational evidence for a relationship (or lack thereof) between the ortho-semantic learning — behavioural measures implicated in the transition to skilled reading development — and N170 ERP effects related to the visual processing of orthographic forms.

2.16.2.1 Orthographic Learning and N170 Effects

I hypothesized that similar to fluency, orthographic learning would also modulate the N170 print and lexical tuning effects.

In terms of print tuning modulation, I expected that readers with higher scores of orthographic learning would show smaller amplitude, left-lateralized print tuning effects than those with lower scores of orthographic learning, who would show a larger amplitude, bilateral print tuning effects — similar to the fluency-modulated findings. This hypothesis was based on the fact that both orthographic learning and N170 print tuning reflect a form of sensitivity to orthographic structure, and so it is likely that a child's ability to recognize and learn novel orthographic structures relies not only on visual expertise for print or the linguistic knowledge of printed orthographic forms, but on the connection between these two complimentary subsystems, and synthesis of the underlying neural processes involved. A smaller, left-lateralized N170 print tuning effect for readers with stronger orthographic learning skills would reflect the neural fine-tuning and strengthening of connections between visual and linguistic subsystems involved in processing orthographic structure, and consequently, novel orthographic forms. Evidently, this finding would serve as an extension of the phonological mapping hypothesis (Maurer & McCandliss, 2007), which emphasizes connections between lefthemisphere visual and linguistic areas involved in printed word decoding.

I also expected that orthographic learning would modulate the N170 lexical tuning effect, whereby this effect would be left-lateralized in readers with higher scores of orthographic learning and absent in readers with lower scores of orthographic learning. This hypothesis was based on the idea that higher-level lexical processing of orthographic

forms (i.e., effortless recognition of regularities and exceptions) also requires both visual and linguistic expertise, requiring stronger connections between left-hemisphere language and visual processes.

2.16.2.2 Semantic Learning and N170 Effects

The relationship between semantic learning and N170 print and lexical tuning was exploratory in the current study. I hypothesized that semantic learning might reflect a more advanced development of the direct route, where the meaning of a novel orthographic form is learned via associations between different cues (e.g., contextual, pragmatic, environmental) and previously stored semantic knowledge — unlike the word-level, visual orthographic and lexical processing indexed by the N170 print and lexical tuning effects, respectively.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

3.1 PARTICIPANTS

Thirty-six native English-speaking children enrolled in grade 3 programs within the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) were recruited. Grade 3 was selected because it is the stage of a child's education in which there is a shift from 'learning to read' to 'reading to learn' (Hernandez, 2011). Consequently, it is also the point in a child's reading development where substantial variability is noted in reading fluency/comprehension, as well as phonological, orthographic, and semantic skills. Participants were recruited in the HRM via participant database through Dalhousie's Early Social Development Lab, direct recruitment through public schools within the Halifax Regional School Board (HRSB), and public advertisement. The participant sample consisted of 19 boys and 17 girls (chronological age range = 7;6-9;5, mean = 8;9, SD = 0;5, 34 right handed). Although English was the native and dominant language for all children, 10 were enrolled in French immersion programs and five of the children had some exposure to other languages (German, Arabic, Mandarin, or Cantonese). All participants had normal hearing and normal or corrected-to-normal vision, with no reported developmental, neurological, or psychiatric disorders — including reading or other language disorders. Participants and their parents/guardians provided informed assent and consent, respectively, before participating in the study. They were compensated monetarily (30 + an additional 10 for travel costs), as well as with a certificate of completion. The research protocol was approved by the Dalhousie University Social Sciences and Humanities Research Ethics Board (REB).

3.2 BEHAVIOURAL PROCEDURE AND MEASURES

The study was conducted at the NeuroCognitive Imaging Laboratory in the Life Sciences Centre at Dalhousie University. At the beginning of each session, participants and their parents/guardians were given a written consent form and informed of the study's purpose and procedures, as well as potential risks and benefits. They were given the opportunity to ask any questions that they had about the study. Written informed consent was obtained from participants' parents/guardians, and oral assent was obtained from participants. The study was only conducted if both parent/guardians and children gave consent/assent.

Participants then completed a series of nine behavioural assessments addressing both reading ability directly, and other skills that are thought to contribute to reading ability. This protocol was based on the behavioural testing conducted by Mimeau and colleagues (2018) and lasted approximately 1 hour, 10 minutes. All behavioural assessments were administered manually and are described below in order of the skills that they address. They were administered in the following order for all participants: Test of Word Reading Efficiency, Second Edition (TOWRE-2; Sight Word Efficiency and Phonemic Decoding subtests); Woodcock Reading Mastery Test-Revised (Passage Comprehension subtest); orthographic knowledge task (Mimeau et al., 2018); semantic knowledge task (Mimeau et al., 2018); Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI; Matrix Reasoning subtest); Woodcock Reading Mastery Test-Revised (Word Identification subtest); a modified version of the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, Third Edition (M-PPVT-3); Comprehensive Test of Phonological Processing, Second Edition

(C-TOPP-2; Elision subtest); and the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Fourth Edition (WISC-4; Digit Span subtest).

3.2.1 Reading Skills

Three standardized tasks were used to assess reading skills. The Sight Word Efficiency subtest of the TOWRE-2 (Torgesen et al. 1999) was administered to assess reading fluency (speed and accuracy). In this task, participants read aloud as many words as they could during a 45-second time interval from a list of words that gradually increased in length and difficulty.

The Word Identification subtest from the Woodcock Reading Mastery Test-Revised (Woodcock, 1998) was used to assess word reading accuracy. This subtest required children to read aloud words of increasing difficulty.

The Passage Comprehension subtest, also from the Woodcock Reading Mastery Test-Revised (Woodcock, 1998), was used as a measure of comprehension of written text. During this task, participants had to silently read sentences or short passages of increasing length and complexity, all of which contained a missing word. Participants were asked to provide an appropriate word to fill the missing blank.

3.2.2 Phonological Skills

The Phonemic Decoding subtest of the TOWRE-2 (Torgesen et al. 1999) and the Elision subtest of the CTOPP-2 (Wagner et al., 1999) were used to assess phonemic skills. The Phonemic Decoding test required participants to read aloud as many nonwords as they could in 45 seconds from a list of non-words that contained phonemes seen in the English language. The Elision subtest, a measure of phonological awareness, assessed participants' ability to remove phonological segments from spoken words to

form different words. The participants were verbally instructed repeat the original word, and then to remove particular phonemes from that word and generate the new word aloud.

3.2.3 Orthographic Knowledge

A homophone judgment task was used to characterize the participants' existing orthographic knowledge. In this task, participants chose the correct of two alternative spellings for a known word (e.g., *The boy liked to read stories with <u>mysterey/mystery</u>.), which assessed their whole-word orthographic knowledge. This task was used by Mimeau and colleagues (2018), which they adapted from Olson, Kliegl, Davidson, and Foltz (1985).*

3.2.4 Semantic Knowledge

Two tasks were administered to assess semantic knowledge. The first task was a homophone judgment task, in which participants selected the more appropriate of two real words given the context of the sentence (e.g., *The father read a story to his youngest son/sun*.). This task was also used by Mimeau and colleagues (2018) and adapted from Olson, Kliegl, Davidson, and Foltz (1985).

The second task was a modified version of the PPVT-3 (Dunn & Dunn, 2007). Participants were shown four black and white images at a time, and were asked to point to the image that represented a spoken word provided verbally by the experimenter. This modified, 51-item version (1/4 of the original number of stimuli) was validated for children in Grades 1 to 3 by Sparks and Deacon (2015), and similar abbreviated versions have been used in additional previous research (Wang et al. 2009; Pasquarella et al., 2011). The items for the modified version were selected in such a way that the

progression of difficulty found in the original test was maintained (see Sparks & Deacon, 2015).

3.2.5 Nonverbal Intelligence

The Matrix Reasoning subtest of the WASI (Wechsler, 1999) was used in order to tap into fluid intelligence and broad visual intelligence, which has been found to correlate with word reading in Grade 3 children (Deacon, Benere, & Castles, 2012). In this task, participants were shown pictures containing incomplete patterns of increasing difficulty. Participants were asked to select the correct piece out of five choices that finished each pattern.

3.2.6 Working Memory

The Digit Span subtest of the WISC-4 was used to assess working memory, as research suggests it is correlated with word reading and reading comprehension in 9-yearold children (Cain, 2007). This subtest required participants to repeat lists of digits, increasing in length, in either the same order as dictated, or in the reverse order.

3.2.7 Measures Excluded in Current Study

It should be noted that the following data was not included in the analysis of the current study: Scores on the WASI, WISC-4, orthographic knowledge task (Mimeau et al., 2018), semantic knowledge task (Mimeau et al., 2018), M-PPVT-3, and Woodcock Word Identification and Passage Comprehension subtests, as well as demographic information such as age, sex, and socio-economic status (SES) and school program (English or French Immersion). The focus of the current study was primarily to investigate the relationship between reading ability, ortho-semantic learning skills, and

N170 ERP characteristics. As such, a more exhaustive analysis should be conducted in the future, including these additional items as predictor variables.

3.3 EEG PROCEDURE AND MEASURES

After completing the behavioural assessments, participants were fitted with the EEG cap (~10-15 minutes) and seated in an electrically shielded, sound attenuating booth. During EEG recording, participants completed a Lexical Decision Task (LDT; described below) containing three blocks, presented on a computer screen in the booth. Before each of the three blocks, participants completed an ortho-semantic learning task (described below), which took approximately 8–10 minutes. During these periods, impedance checks and adjustment of electrodes was also conducted as needed. The EEG session lasted approximately 1 hour and 20 minutes for each participant.

3.3.1 Lexical Decision Task

The LDT was performed by participants during EEG recording, so that ERPs could be derived for each condition presented during the LDT. Following application of the EEG net and the first block of the ortho-semantic learning task, participants completed a short practice block of 10 trials so that they became acquainted with the types of stimuli and methods of response they would be exposed to during the task. The practice trials were supervised by an experimenter to ensure that participants understood the task fully. Following the practice block, the first of three LDT blocks began. Each trial began with a blank grey screen for 2.5 s, followed by a fixation cross in the centre of the screen for 0.5 s. The experimental stimulus (see below) was then presented in white for 1 s and was followed again by a blank screen. Participants then decided whether the stimulus was a word or not by entering *yes* or *no* on a USB numeric mini keypad

(Nexxtech; Barrie, ON). The blank screen was displayed until participants made a yes/no selection to ensure that all trials were matched with a behavioural response. Participants were instructed to consider novel words learned during ortho-semantic learning task as words in the context of the LDT.

3.3.2 LDT Stimuli

The LDT consisted of 5 experimental conditions: real words, non-words, novel words (words presented as target items in the ortho-semantic learning task), consonant strings, and false font (all described below). The experiment contained a total of 198 stimuli (100 real words, 50 novel non-words, 48 novel words, 50 consonant strings, and 50 false font). These stimuli were pseudo-randomly distributed into the 3 experimental blocks, such that equal numbers of items from each condition appeared in each block, and the novel words learned prior to that block were shown in the corresponding LDT block.

3.3.2.1 Real Words

A real word list of single-syllable words was generated using the Children's Printed Word Database (Masterson et al., 2010). This database, generated in the United Kingdom, contains a comprehensive list of vocabulary in reading materials used by 5- to 9-year-old children, along with information regarding critical characteristics of these words for their use as experimental stimuli (for a description of database generation and calculations of word characteristics, see Masterson et al., 2010). Using the information from this database, all real words were controlled for word frequency (frequency per million; range = 103 to 1,880, average = 323.97), word length (range = 3 to 5, average = 3.99, number of phonological neighbours (range = 0-29, average = 12.69) and

orthographic neighbours (range = 0 to 17, average = 6.49). Only content words (specific verbs and nouns) were selected.

3.3.2.2 Non-words

The non-words were generated using the same list of 50 real words from the Children's Printed Word Database as discussed above, but replacing either one or two phonemes in the word, such that the modified stimuli were not real words, but were still pronounceable. These non-word stimuli were not learned in previous tasks or assessments, including the ortho-semantic learning task or any of the standardized language assessments.

It should be noted that while typical non-word stimuli are pronounceable letter strings that *violate* orthographic rules and are not lexically valid, the non-words created in this paradigm were more reflective of typical pseudo-words, as they followed typical orthographic rules.

3.3.2.3 Novel Words

The novel words used in the LDT were the novel words used by Mimeau and colleagues (2018) that were learned during the orthographic and semantic learning tasks (described below).

3.3.2.4 Consonant Strings

Consonant strings were generated using a random consonant generator (Reed, n.d.), with strings ranging from 3 to 5 (average = 3.99) — consistent with the qualities of the real word stimuli.

3.3.2.5 False Fonts

False fonts were created based on a protocol developed and implemented by Grossi and Coch (2005). Using Adobe Photoshop Software, the letters from real word stimuli were individually rotated by either 90 or 180 degrees. Additionally, letters that had either vertical or horizontal symmetry (e.g., u), were vertically altered (i.e., expanded or diminished) on one side. Overall spatial characteristics of the original letters (i.e., height, width, and inter-letter distance) were maintained for all false font stimuli.

3.3.2.6 Conditions Excluded in Current Study

It should be noted that the non-word and novel word conditions were administered, but were not included in the primary analysis of the current study; however, they were included in a preliminary visualization of between condition differences. The focus of the current study was on the N170 print and lexical tuning effects, which are characterized primarily by contrasts between real words and false font (print tuning), and real words and consonant strings (lexical tuning). An N170 lexical tuning effect has also been elicited in previous studies using contrasts between real words and pseudo-words, and pseudo-words and consonant strings; however, as previously noted, these findings are less consistent and the reasons for this are at present unclear (Bentin et al., 1999; Wydell et al., 2003; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Hauk et al., 2006; Maurer et al., 2006). Furthermore, one of the novel contributions of this study was to add a semantic learning component, through which participants came to associate meaning with one set of pseudo-words. This created the potential that even the pseudo-words in this study for which no new meanings were learned, would be processed differently than in a typical study in which all pseudo-words were meaningless.

3.3.3 Ortho-Semantic Learning Task

3.3.3.1 Adaptations to the Ortho-Semantic Learning Paradigm

The ortho-semantic learning task used in this study (described in detail below) was based on Mimeau and colleagues' (2018) adaptation of the previously described ortho-semantic learning paradigm. A number of additional adaptations were made to their protocol for the current study, which are outlined in the following paragraphs.

The addition of EEG procedures in the current study required certain changes to the overall structure of the paradigm. Whereas Mimeau and colleagues had participants read 12 consecutive stories containing novel words, our paradigm was broken into three blocks to allow LDT trials and EEG recording to be included intermittently. In the current study, participants read eight stories consecutively in each block, reading a total of 24 stories as opposed to the 12 used by Mimeau and colleagues. The additional novel word stimuli in this study ensured that the number of novel word trials needed to obtain reliable ERP waveforms was achieved. It should be noted that the additional 12 stories were already created, and served as an additional set of stimuli in the study by Mimeau and colleagues (2018).

The addition of EEG also resulted in the exclusion of certain ortho-semantic learning post-tests used by Mimeau and colleagues. For example, after reading a set of three stories, Mimeau and colleagues (2018) had participants spell on paper and orally define each of the three novel words they had just learned. Additionally, after participants read all 12 stories, Mimeau and colleagues (2018) conducted a picture matching test of semantic learning, which was a novel contribution to the literature designed to assess a participant's ability to distinguish between the meanings of the 12 novel words (for
details regarding this task, see Mimeau et al., 2018). These post-tests were not included in the current study given the time constraints induced by the addition of EEG procedures; however, the current study did include the ortho-semantic choice tasks (described below) that have been used as primary measures of ortho-semantic learning in several adaptations of the ortho-semantic learning paradigm.

Mimeau and colleagues (2018) also accounted for both immediate recall and delayed retention of novel words by conducting the ortho-semantic choice post-tests immediately after the stories were read and again several days later. The current study focused solely on immediate recall in the interest of relating these scores with EEG measures; however, it is noted that future studies should include both immediate retention and delayed recall to obtain more robust measures of ortho-semantic learning.

3.3.3.2 Exposure Phase

During the exposure phase, participants read 8 stories aloud per block (24 stories total). Each story consisted of a short, five-sentence paragraph, presenting one novel word as an invention and providing semantic context by describing/defining the meaning of the non-word. Each story contained four iterations of the novel word it described, and maintained the same general structure: the first sentence introduced the context, character, and problem; the second sentence depicted the action involving the invention and character; the third sentence described the invention's use; the fourth sentence described an action carried out by the character using the invention to interact with the problem; and the fifth sentence described the action between the character and the invention when the problem was solved as a result of the invention. The following paragraph is an example of one of the paragraphs read during the exposure phase:

Diana was looking in her fridge, and there was an orange but no juice. Diana found the kleb. The kleb is used to get juice from oranges. Diana attached the kleb to the orange. When enough juice came out of the orange, Diana put away the kleb.

3.3.3.3 Novel word Stimuli

The novel words in the stories represented fictional inventions (e.g., a mechanism to remove juice from oranges). Each novel word was monosyllabic with four letters and contained consonant sounds in the word-initial and word-final positions. Each novel word indicated a target phoneme that was associated with more than one appropriate spelling in English (e.g., target = /i/, spelling pattern = ea or ee).

For each of the six target phonemes, there were four pairs of novel words, with two pairs per spelling pattern. Both spelling patterns were used as targets and foils, to control for any bias arising from one of the patterns being used more frequently to represent the phoneme. In each pair, one word was used as the target (the word embedded in the story), and one was used as a homophonic foil during the ortho-semantic choice tasks. Therefore, for each target sound, there were four targets and four homophonic foils.

The novel words were searched in the Children's Printed Word Database (Masterson et al., 2010) to ensure that they did not previously exist in the English language and that children would not have previously had exposure to them. It was ensured that the spelling of each novel word followed a regular grapheme-phoneme correspondence based on rules provided in Rastle and Coltheart (1999).

3.3.3.4 Orthographic Choice Task

After participants read all 8 stories in the block aloud, they were shown four written non-words on a page and asked to identify the correct spelling of the learned non-word that was dictated orally by the experimenter (e.g., "Show me the correct spelling of *clet*"). The three distractors consisted of the homophonic variant of the target (e.g., *klet*), and two non-words that were identical to the target except for either the first or last consonant (e.g., *kleb* and *cleb*). The order of the four items on the page were pre-randomized. An example of the orthographic choice task is shown below in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Example Stimuli from Orthographic Choice Task with Target Word Clet.

3.3.3.5 Semantic Choice Task

Following the orthographic choice task, participants were asked to complete a semantic task following the same choice-based format. They were shown four pictures on a page and asked to identify the picture that correctly demonstrated the meaning of the invention that was dictated orally by the experimenter (e.g., "Show me the picture that shows the *clet*"). Again, the order of the items on the page was pre-randomized. One distractor shared some semantic information with the target, depicting an invention involving the same object (e.g., target = *juice remover from oranges*, related distractor = *orange peeler*). The additional two distractors were foils that corresponded to the same unrelated object (e.g., a tummy-ache fixer and a tummy remover for shirts). This example is shown below in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Example Stimuli from Semantic Choice Task with Target Word Clet.

Table 1 provides the complete list of targets novel words and foils, along with the target phonemes they represent. The four novel words that were presented together in both the orthographic and semantic tasks are highlighted in grey and white.

Table 1Ortho-semantic learning task non-words representing target sounds and
their homophonic foils.

Target Sound	Target Word	Homophonic Foil
/k/	Kleb	Cleb
	Clet	Klet
	Krid	Crid
	Crig	Krig
/0/	Joap	Jope
	Bope	Boap
	Loak	Loke
	Noke	Noak
/e/	Yaif	Yafe
	Vafe	Vaif
	Paib	Pabe
	Zabe	Zaib
/3-/	Lerg	Lurg
	Turg	Terg
	Merl	Murl

Target Sound	Target Word	Homophonic Foil
	Burl	Berl
/i/	Veap	Veep
	Feep	Feap
	Seef	Seaf
	Weaf	Weef
/u/	Hewl	Hule
	Zule	Zewl
	Mewd	Mude
	Fude	Fewd

3.4 ERP PREPROCESSING

After recording, the EEG data were exported in binary format and preprocessed using the MNE-python software package (Gramfort et al., 2013; Gramfort et al., 2014). There were several steps involved in the preprocessing procedure for each participant. First, a 0.1 – 40 Hz bandpass filter was applied in order to attenuate frequencies in the data outside of the target range. The continuous data was then visually inspected and any bad channels (i.e., channels containing excessive noise for an extended part of the recording) were identified and removed. After bad channels were removed, ERPs were derived by segmenting the data into epochs, which are segments of the EEG data time-locked to the onset of each stimulus (including 200 ms baseline and 1000 ms post word onset). The segmented data was then visually inspected and trials with excessive noise (e.g., due to head movement) were rejected manually.

Artifact correction was then conducted using Independent Components Analysis (ICA). This technique derives from the fact that the EEG recordings are the sum of many independent sources, including those of neural and non-neural origin. The actual distributions of the multivariate signal are for the most part unknown, as the distributions of these generators may overlap in time and space (Ungureanu, 2004). ICA, which is sometimes referred to as blind signal separation, decomposes the signal into individual components that are considered to be the spatial fixed activations with independent time courses that create the observed signal at the scalp (Makeig et al., 1997; Jung et al., 2000).

ICA decomposition of the ERP data was performed using the Fast ICA algorithm (Hyvärinen, 1999), with the number of components automatically determined to account for 99% of the variance in the data. Scalp distribution, weighting on each epoch, and variance within each epoch were visualized for each independent component, and ocular artifacts along with other visible artifacts were identified and removed by zeroing the weighting of those components in the decomposition matrix. Following this, any electrodes that were manually removed were replaced using spherical spline interpolation. The recordings were then re-referenced to the average of all channels.

3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

3.5.1 Group-Level Behavioural Data

3.5.1.1 Behavioral Measures

Descriptive statistics for behavioural measures of fluency (TOWRE-2 Sight Word Efficiency subtest), phonemic decoding (TOWRE-2 Phonemic Decoding subtest), orthographic knowledge (orthographic knowledge task), orthographic learning, semantic

knowledge (M-PPVT-3), and semantic learning were computed and visualized in order to determine the extent of the variability in these skills across participants. In order to address potential collinearity between these behavioural measures, a correlation matrix was computed containing Pearson's correlation coefficients for the pairwise correlations of all possible pairs. It should be noted that measures of ortho-semantic knowledge and phonemic decoding were included in the correlation analysis not only to investigate collinearity, but to ensure that the relationships between these measures reflected findings documented in the literature; however, as previously mentioned, they were not included in the analysis of the relationships between behavioural and ERP measures.

3.5.1.2 Lexical Decision Task Data

The proportion of correct word/non-word judgments during the lexical decision task was calculated for each condition and for each participant in order to ensure that the participants demonstrated roughly equivalent levels of engagement with the different classes of stimuli.

3.5.2 Group-Level EEG Data

Linear generalized additive mixed-effects (GAM) modeling as implemented by the function *bam*, from the *mgcv* package in R (Version 3.2.1; R Core Team, 2013; Woods, 2006; Newman, et al., 2012; Tremblay & Newman, 2015) was used to investigate the influence of predictor variables Condition (real words, false font, consonant strings, non-words, novel words) and ROI (left and right) on the N170 amplitude in the selected time window. GAM is a non-parametric regression model that has a general additive structure (Woods, 2006). It is an extension of the general linear mixed-effects model that is effective at modeling repeated measures (within subjects and

within stimuli) and is well-suited to capturing experimental effects in the non-linear time series, all of which is characteristic of ERP data (Tremblay & Newman, 2015). Linear GAM modeling effectively identifies relationships between independent and dependent variables, while accounting for the unbalanced nature of the trial removals characteristic in the ERP data, as well as the non-sphericity of the data (Newman, et al., 2012), which makes it advantageous over traditional repeated measures ANOVA and AN(C)OVA models. Furthermore, it allows for more effective modeling of random effect variables that represent a nonreproducible sample of the population.

Initially, using linear GAM, the full model was computed. The full model represented the most complex model including all main effects and interactions of the fixed effects variables, as well as random effects (e.g., accounting for unequal variance across hemispheres and participant-specific noise). This model was used to identify and remove outliers in the data (i.e., the data points for which residuals were more than 2.5 standard deviations from the mean). The outliers, accounting for 2.27% of the data, were removed and the full model was updated and recomputed.

Next, a family of models were computed, first for random effects structures and then for fixed effects, in order to determine the optimal model (i.e., the model that accounted for the most variance with the fewest factors and interactions). The family of models included the most complex (e.g., 2 fixed effect variables and a 2-way interaction) and progressively simpler models (e.g., 2 fixed effects variables with no interaction). The optimal model was selected using Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). AIC estimates the relative quality of the models for a dataset. The AIC value for each model represents a weighting of the conditional probability of that model, such that lowest AIC value

reflects the optimal model (Wagenmakers & Farrell, 2004). AIC is based on the maximum likelihood estimation technique; however, it better accounts for the trade-off between the quality of the fit and the simplicity of the model (Akaike, 1973).

3.5.3 EEG and Behavioural Data

A family of models was computed including the optimal model described above, as well as models including the addition of fixed-effects predictor variables fluency, semantic learning, and orthographic learning in order to determine the degree of association between N170 amplitude and laterality and behavioural measures of reading. Again, the optimal model in this family of models was selected based on the lowest AIC value.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 BEHAVIOURAL DATA

4.1.1 Behavioural Measures

Descriptive statistics for behavioural measures of fluency, phonemic decoding, orthographic knowledge, orthographic learning, semantic knowledge, and semantic learning are presented in Table 1 below, indicating a range of scores on all behavioural measures. Mean scores on orthographic and semantic learning tasks suggest that participants recognized novel ortho-semantic representations learned in the orthosemantic learning paradigm and made the appropriate selection for more than half of the items.

Table 2Descriptive statistics for behavioural measures of fluency, phonemic
decoding, orthographic knowledge/learning, and semantic
knowledge/learning.

Measure (Maximum Score)	М	SD	Range
Fluency ^a	101.11	13.91	65-128
Phonemic Decoding ^a	103.11	13.68	72-124
Orthographic Knowledge (25)	20.38	3.83	10-25
Orthographic Learning (24)	15.39	2.66	10-22
Semantic Knowledge (51)	34.69	4.60	21-42
Semantic Learning (24)	19.25	2.63	12-24

Note. ^aAge-based standard scores are reported for these measures. Raw scores are reported for all other measures.

4.1.2 Correlation Matrix

The correlation matrix is presented in Figure 3 below, including scatterplots with regression lines for all pairwise correlations. The values in red represent correlations which are significant at p < .05. Scores of fluency, phonemic decoding, orthographic knowledge, and orthographic learning were all moderately to strongly positively correlated, with the exception of fluency and orthographic learning, which were weakly correlated (r = .17). The strongest correlations were found between fluency and phonemic decoding (r = .86), fluency and orthographic knowledge (r = .72), and phonemic decoding and orthographic knowledge (r = .68). Semantic knowledge and semantic learning showed negligible correlations with all other behavioural measures of reading-related abilities, including with each other.

Fluency	.86	.72	.17	.27	.01
1	PhonDecode	.68	.33	.18	07
J.		Orthoknow	.41	.12	12
			Ortholearn	03	.01
	0 ⁹⁹⁶	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		Semknow	.29
		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		B Carlos	Semlearn

Figure 3 Correlation Matrix containing Pairwise Correlations Between Scores of Fluency, Phonemic Decoding, Orthographic Knowledge/Learning, and Semantic Knowledge/Learning. Correlation values are represented in the top-right section (values in red signify significant correlations at p < .05), and the bottom-left section shows scatterplots with linear fits and 95% CIs for each correlation.

4.1.3 Lexical Decision Task

Data from 34 participants were included in the analysis of responses for each

condition during the lexical decision task. Data from 2 participants were excluded due to

limited response documentation as a result of response pad malfunction. On average, participants correctly identified 91% of consonant strings, 62% of novel words, 92% of real words, 94% of false fonts, and 69% of non-words, indicating that participants were performing the task appropriately and showing adequate levels of engagement for each condition.

4.2 ERP DATA

4.2.1 Group-Level Data

Using the data from all 36 participants, grand average ERP waveforms and scalp voltage topographies were computed and visualized for each condition. A preliminary visualization of the grand average topographic scalp maps (Figure 4) revealed a bilateral negativity (negative amplitude; dark blue) greatest over occipto-temporal regions and peaking at approximately 200 ms for all conditions. The 30 ms delay in N170 onset can be primarily attributed to the lag between stimulus onset in the experimental script, and the point at which the stimulus first appears on the screen. Based on this information, the 190-225 ms time window was chosen as the time window of interest in order to more specifically capture the greatest N170 amplitudes in this sample.



Figure 4 Topographic scalp maps of the grand average ERP waveforms from 200 ms pre-stimulus onset to 900 ms post stimulus onset for the three conditions of interest: real words, false font, and consonant strings.

The topographic map for the real word condition at 200 ms was used to specify the electrodes over which the amplitude of the N170 was the greatest in order to determine left and right hemisphere regions of interest (ROIs) specific to the sample in the current study (see Figure 5).

RealWord



Figure 5 Topographic map representing the grand average ERP waveform at 200 ms following the presentation of real word stimuli. The electrodes for which the mean amplitude was the greatest (largest negativity; dark blue) are outlined by black dotted lines and represent the ROIs selected in the left and right hemispheres.

This method of ROI selection allows for a data-specific account of the spatial distribution of the N170 component while also providing a structured method of interpreting bilateral effects. The ROI in the left hemisphere included electrodes E58, E59, E66, E64, E65, E69, E70. The ROI in the right hemisphere included electrodes E84, E91, E96, E90, E83, E95, and E89. These electrode labels are in accordance with the International 10-20 System. The selected regions of interest are visualized on the

Hydrocel Geodesic Sensor Net 128 Channel Map in Figure 6, represented by stars (yellow stars represent left hemisphere ROI; pink stars represent right hemisphere ROI).



Figure 6 Top-down map of the 128 Channel Hydrocel Geodesic Sensor Net indicating the seven electrodes in both the left (yellow stars) and right (pink stars) hemispheres selected as ROIs based on the grand average ERP data.

Initial visualization of between-condition differences in the 190-225 ms time window within the left and right hemisphere ROIs was conducted using the grand average waveforms for each condition, plotted at one electrode centrally located within the designated ROIs. At the left ROI, grand average waveforms at E65 (Figure 7) show clear negativities peaking around 200 ms for all conditions, indicating the presence of the N170 ERP component. N170 amplitude differences between conditions are also noted, with real words, novel words and nonwords showing the most negative amplitudes, followed by consonant strings and then false font, which shows the least negative N170 amplitude.



Figure 7 Grand average waveforms for all conditions in the 190-225 ms time window at electrode E6, centrally located within the left hemisphere ROI.

Similar grand average waveforms were noted in the right hemisphere at E90 (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Grand average waveforms for all conditions in the 190-225 ms time window at electrode E90, centrally located within the right hemisphere ROI.

The amplitude and lateralization of the N170 elicited by the different conditions were further investigated using linear GAM modeling. In this analysis, the adaptive mean amplitude (AMA) was used, which accounts for N170 latency differences across participants and across individual trials. This ensures that the process of averaging and contrasting waveforms does not cancel out differences in peak negativities with variable latency, which would result in smaller computed effect than those which truly exist (Nidal & Malik, 2014). In other words, AMA ensures that the means represented in the model more closely represent the true means in the data. The AMA algorithm identified the largest negative peak within the 190-225 ms time window, and then created a new, slightly larger time window centred around this peak (170-290 ms) in order to compute the mean voltage of the ERP waveform. The AMA at the left and right hemisphere ROIs were plotted with 95% confidence intervals (CIs; Figure 9), which further demonstrated differences in the mean amplitudes between the different conditions in both hemispheres.



Figure 9 Dot plot depicting the adaptive mean amplitudes of the N170 ERP component with 95% CIs for each condition in the 170-290 ms time window at left and right hemisphere ROIs. Negative is plotted up to emphasize the fact that the most negative amplitude values reflect the largest N170 components.

Hemispheric differences in the AMA for each condition were then computed with

95% CIs and visualized (Figure 10). A significant left-lateralization for non-words was

noted, as well as shift toward left lateralization for all other conditions.



Figure 10 Bar plot representing the laterality (right-left) difference of the adaptive mean amplitude between left and right hemisphere ROIs for each condition in the 170-290 ms time window. Left hemisphere lateralization of the N170 is represented by a negative value (bar extending to the left of zero).

In order to further investigate differences in N170 AMA for each condition in each ROI in the 170-190 ms time window, a family of linear GAM models were computed using fixed effects variables Condition and ROI, as well as a random intercept for Participant, and random slopes for ROI × Participant and Condition × Participant interactions, in order to determine the optimal model for the data. This was first performed for random effects structures. The optimal model included a random intercept for Participant and random slopes for ROI × Participant interactions.

This model was used to consider different fixed effects structures. The best model included a 2-way Condition × ROI interaction with random intercept for Participant and random slopes for ROI × Participant interactions. Analysis of this model yielded a significant main effect of Condition, F(1, 4) = 82.63, p < .001, but no significant main effect of ROI. There was, however, a significant Condition × ROI interaction, F(1,4) = 2.63, p = .03, suggesting that amplitude differences between conditions varied between the left and right ROIs.

In order to better understand the nature of these findings, two-tailed pairedsamples t-tests were computed to compare the N170 AMA at both ROIs for real words and false font, and for real words and consonant strings - indexing print and lexical tuning, respectively. For these contrasts, the threshold for significance was p < .05, corrected for multiple comparisons using the Holm method (Holm, 1979).

The magnitudes of the print and lexical tuning effect at each ROI with 95% CIs are presented in Figure 11. The difference between the mean N170 amplitude for real words and false fonts (print tuning effect) was significant in both the left (M = 2.51, CI [2.19, 2.82], t(4) = 15.41, p < .001) and right (M = 2.53, CI [2.22, 2.85], t(4) = 15.59, p < .001) hemispheres, suggesting a significant bilateral print tuning effect at the group level (because the amplitude values and CIs were virtually identical in both hemispheres, a between-hemisphere *t*-test was not conducted). The difference between the mean N170 amplitude for real words and consonant strings (lexical tuning effect) was also significant in both the left (M = 1.45, CI [1.13, 1.77], t(4) = 8.93, p < .001) and right (M = 1.22, CI

[.90, 1.54], t(4) = 7.52, p < .001), which reflects a significant bilateral lexical tuning effect as well, but with a smaller magnitude than the print tuning effect.



Figure 11 Bar plot representing the magnitudes of the N170 print tuning (real words – false font) and lexical tuning (real words – consonant strings) effects in the left and right hemisphere ROIs in the 190-270 ms time window.

4.2.2 Individual Differences: EEG and Behavioural Data

Individual differences in the magnitude and laterality of the N170 print and lexical tuning effects in the 170-290 ms time window were investigated in relation to individual differences in behavioural measures of reading-related skills: fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning. A family of models were computed including the optimal model described above (i.e., without the inclusion of any behavioural measures), as well as a model including 3-way interactions between Condition, ROI, and each of the three behavioural measures (but no interactions between the behavioural measures), and a model including 2-way interactions between Condition and each behavioural measure. The optimal model included 2-way interactions between Condition and each of the behavioural measures, with a random intercept for Participant and random slope for ROI × Participant interactions. Notably, the inclusion of ROI as a fixed effect was not warranted in the model including individual difference variables, suggesting no influence of these individual differences on laterality of the N170 effects.

This analysis revealed a main effect of Condition, F(1, 4) = 12.33, p < .001, as well as Fluency, F(1, 1) = 6.94, p = .01, and Semantic Learning, F(1, 1) = 4.45, p = .03, but no main effect of Orthographic Learning. There was, however, a significant Condition × Orthographic Learning interaction, F(1, 4) = 4.19, p = .002, as well as a significant Condition × Fluency interaction, F(1, 4) = 19.42, p < .001, and a significant Condition × Semantic Learning interaction, F(1, 4) = 2.45, p = .04, suggesting that amplitude differences between conditions were modulated by skills in fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning.

Again, two-tailed paired-samples *t*-tests were computed to further investigate the relationship between fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning and the N170 print and lexical tuning effects across both ROIs in the 170-290 ms time window. For these contrasts, the threshold for significance was p < .05, corrected for multiple comparisons using the Holm method.

Table 3 contains the results of the paired-samples t-tests. These analyses revealed that neither fluency nor semantic learning significantly modulated N170 print or lexical tuning. Orthographic learning significantly modulated the print tuning effect (M = .11, CI [.02, .19], t(4) = 2.43, p = .03), but not the lexical tuning effect.

Contrast	Estimate	SE	CI	<i>t</i> -value	p (Holm)
PT × FL	01	0.01	0300	-1.69	.09
LT × FL	02	0.01	0300	-2.03	.09
$PT \times OL$.11	.04	.0219	2.43	.03**
LT × OL	08	.04	1701	-1.83	.07
$PT \times SL$.08	.16	0116	1.79	.14
$LT \times SL$.03	.11	0611	.64	.52

Table 3Posthoc contrasts between N170 print and lexical tuning and behavioural
measures of fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning.

Note. PT = Print Tuning, LT = Lexical Tuning, FL = Fluency, OL = Orthographic Learning, SL = Semantic Learning.

Figure 12 shows the AMA of the N170 print tuning effect as a function of orthographic learning. Participants with higher scores of orthographic learning showed larger amplitude N170 print tuning effects.



Figure 12 Print tuning (real word – false font) adaptive mean amplitude as a function of scores of orthographic learning with 95% CIs.

Although further investigation of N170 print and lexical tuning AMA as a function of fluency and ortho-semantic learning at each ROI was not justified by the results of the linear GAM modeling (i.e., a lack of significant ROI interactions), these relationships were addressed based on a priori predictions of left-hemisphere dominant effects. The findings from this additional analysis revealed a significant correlation

(p = .02) between fluency and N170 lexical tuning in the left hemisphere, where children with higher scores of fluency showed a smaller amplitude lexical tuning effect (Figure 13).



Figure 13 Lexical tuning (real word – consonant strings) adaptive mean amplitude as a function of scores of fluency with 95% CIs. The lexical tuning effect was significantly modulated by fluency (p = .02) in the left hemisphere only.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 OVERVIEW

Although there exist accounts of reading development in both the behavioural and electrophysiological bodies of research, their findings have been relatively independent of one another, and have been characterized by different measures, constructs, and theories. As such, the purpose of the current study was to bridge the conceptual gaps between these two fields and investigate the potential relationship between behavioural measures of ortho-semantic learning and ERP markers of reading development: N170 print and lexical tuning. Participants completed an ortho-semantic learning task and were then exposed to letter and non-letter stimuli while EEG was recorded during a lexical decision task. The ERP data was analyzed in a time window characteristic of the N170, and the mean amplitude and lateralization of the N170 print and lexical tuning effects were examined at the group level, and then in relation to scores of reading fluency, orthographic learning, and semantic learning.

5.2 RESEARCH QUESTION 1: GROUP-LEVEL AND FLUENCY-MODULATED PRINT AND LEXICAL TUNING

5.2.1 Group-Level N170 Effects

The analysis of group-level ERP data revealed a significant difference between the mean amplitudes in response to real words and false font stimuli with a larger amplitude in response to real words over both left and right ROIs, reflecting a significant bilateral group-level N170 print tuning effect in this sample of grade 3 readers. This finding is consistent with my hypothesis, as well as with reports in the literature

indicating a bilateral group-level print tuning effect in grade 2 children (Maurer et al., 2006).

The group-level ERP analysis also revealed a significant lexical tuning effect, indicated by a significant difference between the mean amplitudes in response to real words and consonant strings. Similar to previous findings, the magnitude of this effect was smaller than the magnitude of the print tuning effect; however, interestingly, it differed from reports in the literature in two ways. First, the lexical tuning effect found in the current study was significant over left and right ROIs (i.e., a bilateral group-level effect), unlike the distinctly left-lateralized reports of this effect documented in the literature. Second, the lexical tuning in the current study was characterized by a larger mean amplitude for real words than for consonant strings, which is the reverse of the contrast that typically defines this effect in the literature (i.e., a larger amplitude for consonant strings).

As previously mentioned, studies investigating the development of the lexical tuning effect have examined its characteristics in children ages four, seven, and ten (i.e., preschool, first grade, and fourth grade, respectively; Posner & McCandliss et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2014). In seven-year-old children, the lexical tuning effect has been reported as absent (Posner & McCandliss, 2000), and present only in the left hemisphere for readers with higher scores of word reading (Zhao et al., 2014). The presence of this effect seems to become more consistent in older children, with studies reporting a left-lateralized lexical tuning effect emerging around ten years of age (Posner & McCandliss, 2000), or following the first five years of reading instruction (Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Maurer, Brandeis, et al., 2005; Posner & McCandliss, 2000; McCandliss & Noble, 2003).

Taken together, these reports suggest that lexical tuning is effectively absent until it begins to emerge in the left hemisphere as reading skills progress; however, these findings do not account for the ages and potential differences in reading ability between those that were studied (i.e., grade 3 readers at eight and nine years of age). As such, it may be the case that the data from the current sample of grade 3 readers capture a unique stage in the development of lexical tuning, in which bilateral activation emerges in children at this pivotal stage of reading development and then left lateralizes with continued reading experience and training. This pattern of lateralization, similar to that of print tuning, may reflect initial right hemisphere pattern recognition followed by gradual left lateralization as the rules of printed language (e.g., orthographic regularities, exceptions, and conventions) are acquired and left hemisphere language areas are engaged.

Similarly, the opposing contrast found in the current study (i.e., larger amplitude for real words compared to consonant strings) may also reflect a unique developmental pattern within the characteristics of lexical tuning that has not been fully accounted for by the age groups previously assessed. Specifically, the larger mean amplitude for real words may reflect an early increase in sensitivity and neural recruitment for familiar orthographic patterns, as the lexical rules of the language are still being learned. Future studies should further investigate these findings, particularly in longitudinal studies of readers throughout the elementary school years, in order to account for unique developmental patterns in the N170 lexical tuning effect, which may have implications in terms of the way that this effect is interpreted.

5.2.1.1 Additional Notes about Group-Level Findings

It should be noted that although both the print and lexical tuning effects were bilateral in the current study, the hemispheric lateralization computations suggested a trend toward left hemisphere lateralization for all conditions, which in turn suggests that these findings are indeed precursors to the left lateralized effects that are thought to occur with continued reading experience and training.

It should also be noted that there was a significant interaction between ROI and condition in the statistical analysis of the group-level ERP data, suggesting that differences between conditions varied across the scalp; however, this was not the case for the contrasts of interest in this study. Future analyses of this data should investigate contrasts that include the additional conditions (i.e., non-words and novel words) in order to determine the nature of this interaction.

5.2.2 Fluency-Modulated Print and Lexical Tuning

Next, I hypothesized that individual differences in reading fluency would modulate individual differences in the print and lexical tuning effects, as reported in the literature throughout reading development. First, I predicted that more fluent readers would show a left-lateralized, reduced amplitude print tuning effect compared to less skilled readers, who would show a larger amplitude print tuning effect that was bilateral (i.e., no significant difference between hemispheres). Second, I expected that a leftlateralized lexical tuning effect would be present only for readers with higher scores of fluency, and that the lexical tuning effect in readers with lower scores of fluency would be absent.

Contrary to my hypotheses and to previous findings, reading fluency did not significantly modulate the print tuning or lexical tuning effects in either hemisphere. The lack of relationship between fluency and N170 print tuning was particularly unexpected in the current study, as all of the previous studies investigating this relationship reported significant fluency-modulated effects. That being said, the body of literature relating N170 effects to scores of fluency is still relatively small, with many of the reports stemming from the same group of children over time (Maurer, Brem et al., 2005; Maurer et al., 2006; Maurer et al., 2011), and additional reports coming from the same researchers using different samples of readers (Brem et al., 2006; Maurer & McCandliss, 2007). As such, it could be that more variability exists in the relationship between fluency and N170 effects in young readers than has been documented to date, which highlights the need for further exploration of this relationship using different behavioural measures, ERP stimulus sets, and samples of readers. It is also possible that in grade 3 readers, who typically exhibit substantially variability in reading ability and underlying skills, more robust measures of fluency are needed in order to more accurately determine the existence and extent of the relationship between fluent reading and N170 effects.

It should be noted that in the current study, an exploratory analysis of N170 print and lexical tuning at each ROI was conducted, and the results revealed a significant relationship between N170 lexical tuning and fluency in the left hemisphere, where children with higher scores of fluency showed a smaller amplitude lexical tuning effect than children with lower scores of fluency. Although left-hemisphere fluency-modulated lexical tuning is in line with previous findings, the nature of this modulation is incongruent with typical reports of a *larger* amplitude, left-lateralized lexical tuning

effect for more fluent readers. This finding warrants further exploration, as it may provide further evidence for unique developmental patterns in grade 3 readers.

Additionally, it should be noted that in the analysis of N170 effects and behavioural scores, a significant interaction was found between condition and fluency, suggesting that the mean amplitude differences between conditions varied with scores of fluency. It is evident, however, that these interactions were not related to the contrasts of interest in the current study, and so future consideration of the additional experimental conditions (i.e., non-word and novel word stimuli) may further elucidate the relationship between fluency and N170 effects. Notably, it may provide insight into the relationship between fluency and the lexical tuning effect, which has been characterized in previous studies by additional contrasts such as real words and pseudo-words, as well as pseudowords and consonant strings.

5.3 RESEARCH QUESTION 2: INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES IN ORTHO-SEMANTIC LEARNING AND N170 EFFECTS

5.3.1 Orthographic Learning and the N170 Effects

I hypothesized that similar to previous findings involving measures of fluency, orthographic learning would also modulate the N170 print and lexical tuning effects.

First, I expected that readers with higher scores of orthographic learning would show a smaller amplitude, left-lateralized print tuning effect than those with lower scores of orthographic learning, who would show a larger amplitude, bilateral print tuning effect — similar to the fluency-modulated findings in the literature — which would reflect the neural fine-tuning and strengthening of connections between visual and linguistic subsystems involved in processing orthographic structure. Consistent with my

hypothesis, orthographic learning significantly modulated the print tuning effect; however, it was found that children with higher scores of orthographic learning showed a *larger* amplitude print tuning effect than children with lower skills of orthographic learning, which was not in line with my predictions. Furthermore, there was no significant difference between hemispheres in terms of the extent to which orthographic learning modulated the print tuning effect, which was also incongruent with what I expected.

The finding that higher scores of orthographic learning corresponded to a *larger* amplitude bilateral print tuning effect is similar to the fluency-modulated individual differences previously reported in grade 2 readers (Maurer et al., 2006). As such, this finding may reflect a similar intermediate stage in the process of right-to-left lateralization, but in this case, specific to orthographic structure. Specifically, it may represent the strengthening of connections between visual (print expertise) and linguistic (knowledge of letters and letter strings) subsystems with continued exposure to and experience with printed language, which may ultimately serve as an extension of the phonological mapping hypothesis (Maurer & McCandliss). The larger amplitude effect for readers with higher scores of orthographic learning also suggests an initial wide-spread neural recruitment for these subsystems before the process of fine-tuning occurs.

Next, I hypothesized that readers with higher scores orthographic learning would show a left-lateralized lexical tuning effect compared to readers with lower scores of orthographic learning, for which the lexical tuning effect would be absent. Contrary to my hypothesis, the lexical tuning effect was not significantly modulated by orthographic learning in either hemisphere; however, as previously mentioned, there are additional

contrasts noted in the literature that are thought to reflect later-developing lexical tuning effects (i.e.., real words versus pseudo-words, and pseudo-words versus consonant strings), which were not explored in the current study that may reflect differential relationships with orthographic learning.

5.3.2 Semantic Learning and the N170 Effects

The relationship between semantic learning and N170 print and lexical tuning was more exploratory in the current study, as I expected that semantic learning might reflect a more advanced development of the direct route, where the meaning of a novel orthographic form is learned via associations between different cues and previously stored semantic knowledge — unlike the word-level, visual orthographic and lexical processing indexed by the N170 print and lexical tuning effects, respectively. Consistent with my expectations, semantic learning did not significantly modulate the N170 print or lexical tuning effects in either hemisphere; however, similar to fluency, the analysis revealed a significant interaction between scores of semantic learning and condition, suggesting that conditions that were not included in the current analysis were significantly modulated by semantic learning. The nature of this interaction should be addressed in future studies.

5.3.2.1 Additional Notes about Behavioural Measures and N170 Effects

Although it was not the goal of the current study, potential differences in N170 amplitude and behavioural measures of reading ability were examined between participants in English and French Immersion school programs. Children in French Immersion programs typically receive initial academic and literacy instruction in French with no formal English reading instruction until grade 3 or 4 (Turnbull et al., 2001), and so it was recognized that group differences in English reading ability and corresponding underlying brain activity may have been present in our grade 3 participant sample.

A preliminary investigation of these differences revealed that group-level N170 amplitudes for participants in French Immersion were qualitatively smaller (i.e., less negative) for all conditions, although this finding was not statistically significant. Furthermore, when these waveforms were reduced to condition contrasts (i.e., print and lexical tuning effects), this between-group difference was further mitigated. Additionally, school program did not significantly modulate relationships between the N170 print and lexical tuning effects and the behavioural measures of reading and underlying skills.

These findings should be interpreted with caution in the context of this study, however, as the groups based on school program were imbalanced (10 of the 36 participants were in French Immersion), which reduces the validity of any statistical analyses in this context. Furthermore, the total sample size (N = 36) was too small to generate groups based on school program that were large enough to ensure adequate power for between-group analyses. As such, future studies should consider recruiting additional participants in both English and French Immersion school programs in order to further investigate differences between these groups.

5.3.3 Correlations between Behavioural Measures

Correlations between the behavioural measures of both reading ability and underlying skills were not investigated in detail in the current study, as the focus of the study was on the relationships between behavioural and ERP measures; however, a basic correlational analysis was conducted to ensure that the relationships between the behavioural measures reflected findings documented in the literature. The results of this
analysis revealed certain discrepancies between the findings in the literature and the current sample, which are important to address as they may have implications in terms of the way the overall findings from the current study can be interpreted.

First, the correlational analysis indicated strong positive correlations between fluency, phonemic decoding, and orthographic knowledge. This finding is congruent with reports suggesting that phonemic decoding and existing orthographic knowledge serve as the foundation of skilled reading development (Share, 1995; Bowey & Miller, 2007).

In contrast, correlations involving ortho-semantic learning were not in line with previous findings. Unlike the well-documented relationship between reading ability and orthographic learning in the behavioural literature (Share, 1995; Bowey & Miller, 2007; Mimeau et al., 2018), orthographic learning was only weakly-to-moderately positively correlated with fluency, phonemic decoding, and orthographic knowledge in the current sample of readers.

Similar to orthographic learning, correlations between semantic learning, semantic knowledge, and fluency were also negligible, which is inconsistent with the well-documented finding that semantic knowledge is a strong predictor of semantic learning (Cain et al., 2004; Ewers & Brownson, 1999), and the finding that readers who are more fluent are better able to learn novel semantic representations by taking advantage of contextual cues (Landi et al., 2006).

It is clear that taken together, these findings do not align well with existing theories of reading development that relate ortho-semantic learning to other skills. Specifically, they are incongruent with the self-teaching hypothesis (Share, 1995), which suggests that phonemic decoding skills drive orthographic learning — a skill that in turn

predicts reading ability (Mimeau et al., 2018), as well as with the lexical quality hypothesis (Perfetti & Hart, 2002), which posits that the ability to learn orthographic, phonological, and semantic representations of a word reflects the quality of the stored representation of this word, ultimately influencing skilled reading abilities such as fluency and comprehension.

Given that the basic relationships documented in the behavioural literature between ortho-semantic learning, reading ability, and additional underlying skills were not reported in the current study, it is somewhat difficult to accurately interpret the findings related to ortho-semantic learning and N170 effects, as it unclear a) whether the ortho-semantic measures obtained in this study truly reflect ortho-semantic abilities within these grade 3 readers, and b) how these findings relate to other reading-related skills. For example, the finding in the current study that children with higher scores of orthographic learning showed a larger bilateral print tuning effect than children with lower scores of orthographic learning reflected a similar pattern to the fluency-modulated findings reported by Maurer and colleagues (2006); however, because of the negligible relationship between fluency and orthographic learning in this study, and because fluency did not modulate the print or lexical tuning effects, it was difficult to determine whether this finding is specific to the processing of orthographic structure, accounting for unique connections of underlying subsystems involved in the development skilled reading, or whether this effect was essentially a reflection of the fluency-modulated patterns in amplitude and lateralization that have previously been documented. In a more general sense, it is even difficult to determine whether this finding accurately reflected orthographic-learning modulated neural activity, as the measure of orthographic learning

obtained in the current study may not have adequately captured this ability in the current sample, given the lack of characteristic relationships between this measure and other reading-related abilities. Similarly, the lack of relationship between semantic learning and semantic knowledge calls into question the extent to which semantic learning ability was truly captured in the current data, which confounds interpretations of the lack of relationships between semantic learning and N170 effects.

There were limitations in the protocol of the current study that may have contributed to nature of the relationships (or lack thereof) found between behavioural measures, and consequently, between behavioural measures and N170 effects.

5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE CURRENT STUDY

5.4.1 Adaptations of the Ortho-semantic Learning Paradigm

One limitation of the current study was the adaptations made to the orthosemantic learning paradigm given then time constraints induced by EEG procedures. In previous studies using adaptations of this paradigm, including the adaptation used in the research by Mimeau and colleagues (2018) on which this study was based, orthographic and semantic learning were assessed by administering the ortho-semantic choice tasks immediately after the learning paradigm, as well as at different delays following the initial exposure (e.g., three days following initial exposure, one week following initial exposure). Furthermore, in previous studies, ortho-semantic learning was assessed not only using the choice tasks, but also using post-tests such as spelling tasks, oral definitions, and picture matching. Because the current adaptation of the paradigm implemented only one modality of ortho-semantic assessment at one time point, it may be the case that this adaptation did not adequately assess and/or reinforce ortho-semantic

learning abilities. Although no feedback was given during the post-tests in previous adaptations, it could still be that children who completed these tasks of spelling and defining the novel words had a greater opportunity to establish higher quality lexical representations of these words, which is pivotal not only for learning the orthographic forms and their meanings, but also for retaining them so that they can be accessed during future encounters. Limitations in the current adaptation of the ortho-semantic learning paradigm may offer a possible explanation as to the weak correlations found between ortho-semantic learning and other reading-related skills. As such, in future studies including both EEG and ortho-semantic learning paradigms, it is suggested these procedures be conducted during separate sessions in order to ensure the most robust accounts of both the ortho-semantic learning and ERP measures, which will allow for a more precise and detailed study of their relationships.

5.4.2 Behavioural Measures of Reading Skills

Another limitation of the current study was the selection of behavioural assessments used to obtain measures of reading ability and underlying skills in orthography, phonology, and semantics. Although some of the skills were measured using standardized assessments (e.g., TOWRE-2 for phonemic decoding and word reading fluency), other skills were assessed using subtests from a standardized battery meant to serve as part of a composite score (C-TOPP-2 for phonemic decoding), modifications of standardized tests (M-PPVT-3 for semantic knowledge), and nonstandardized procedures (e.g., the orthographic/semantic knowledge homophone assessments). While these assessments have all been used individually in previous studies, and while they all provide some measure of individual abilities in target areas,

they do not allow for an accurate comparison from one individual to another and they vary in robustness, and consequently, interpretability. As such, it is more difficult to determine whether each measure is a representative account of that particular skill and how an individual's score compares to same aged peers, which may provide an additional explanation as to the behavioural findings in the current study that were incongruent with existing findings in the literature. In order to obtain a more robust and interpretable account of the relationship between behaviorally measured skills involved in reading and the neural fine-tuning for printed words, futures studies should employ a more structured, robust, standardized compilation of behavioural measures to account for these readingrelated skills.

5.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In addition to addressing the limitations of the current study by implementing an extended adaptation of the ortho-semantic learning paradigm (Mimeau et al., 2018) and obtaining more robust behavioural measures of reading ability and underlying skills, the following considerations should be made in future studies of behavioural measures of reading-related skills and N170 effects.

5.5.1 Additional Experimental Conditions

The current study focused on investigating relationships between behavioural measures of reading and the N170 print and lexical tuning effects, which were characterized by contrasts between real words and false font, and real words and consonant strings, respectively; however, as previously mentioned, additional contrasts between different conditions (i.e., non-words and novel words) should be investigated in the future, as significant interactions between condition and ROI, as well as condition and

scores of fluency and semantic learning were not accounted for by the contrasts indexing print and lexical tuning in the current study.

Notably, contrasts including the novel word condition may provide interesting insights into ERP contrasts that have not previously been investigated, given that this study was the first to introduce a semantic learning component to the paradigm in which participants learned the meanings of a subset of the pseudo-words (i.e., non-words in the context of this study). For example, the contrast between real words and novel words should reflect the extent to which these novel words have been learned, whereby a smaller amplitude difference between these conditions might suggest that the novel words are being processed similarly to real words, indicating that learning of these novel words has occurred. Furthermore, the contrast between novel words and non-words (i.e., lexically valid letter strings that have not been learned) may also index learning processes, where no amplitude difference between these two conditions would suggest that the novel words have not been successfully learned and continue to be processed similarly to other non-words. The lateralization of these contrasts would also be important to investigate, given the significant interaction found in the current study between condition and ROI that was unaccounted for by print and lexical tuning.

Also, as previously suggested, future analyses should consider additional contrasts indexing the lexical tuning effect (i.e., real words and non-words and non-words and consonant strings in the context of the current study) in order to clarify the nature of these contrasts given the unexplained variability findings in the literature (Bentin et al., 1999; Wydell et al., 2003; Maurer, Brem, et al., 2005; Hauk et al., 2006; Maurer et al., 2006); however, because of the semantic learning component in the EEG paradigm, the

non-words may be processed differently than in typical studies, which may limit the ability to relate findings related to lexical tuning using this paradigm to findings in previous studies.

5.5.2 Additional Predictor Variables

Future studies should also consider additional factors such as demographics (i.e., age, sex, socioeconomic status, school program), working memory, nonverbal intelligence, print exposure, explicit instruction, comprehension, morphology, syntax, and writing. All of these factors are have been found to contribute to the development of reading abilities, and so in order to progress toward a universal model of reading, it is important that the relative contributions of each of these skills are investigated, particularly in relation to underlying neural processes.

The inclusion of additional variables may also help to elucidate the nature of the relationships between ortho-semantic learning and other reading-related cognitive and linguistic skills, which will in turn provide further insight into the relationship between these measures and N170 ERP effects. For example, as previously discussed, there is evidence in the behavioural literature to suggest that while accurate phonemic decoding and successful word reading provide an *opportunity* for orthographic learning to occur, these skills may not be sufficient alone to account for successful orthographic learning (Nation et al., 2007). As such, it may be the case that other cognitive skills and environmental factors involved in reading and learning (e.g., working memory or exposure to print) may also contribute to the extent to which orthographic learning occurs, which is not accounted for by measures of fluency or phonemic decoding.

5.5.3 Additional Studies Including Grade 3 Readers

Prior to the current study, investigations of the relationships between behavioural measures of reading-related skills and N170 ERP effects had not included samples of grade 3 readers. As previously discussed, grade 3 is thought to be a transitional stage in reading development, which is reflected by a high level of variability in reading ability and underlying skills. The findings in the current study support this idea, as the data from this sample of grade 3 readers seem to capture a unique stage in the development of lexical tuning, in which bilateral activation emerges with a larger activation for real words, and then left lateralizes with continued reading experience and training. As such, although this report serves as preliminary evidence for differential patterns of development in grade 3 readers, additional studies targeting this age and grade level are needed in order to develop a more in-depth understanding of the nature of the potential patterns of print and lexical tuning development that are unique to these readers.

Additionally, longitudinal studies of the developmental patterns related to behavioural and electrophysiological measures of reading that include data from all of the elementary school grades would help to integrate the findings from grade 3 readers into a more general account of behavioural and N170 print/lexical tuning changes throughout the development of skilled reading.

5.5.4 Print and Lexical Tuning as Novel Contributions

In recent years, researchers investigating relationships between behavioural and ERP measures of reading have acknowledged that causal relationships between these measures throughout reading development are difficult to determine (Zhao et al., 2014). Subsequently, they noted the possibility that the development of neural sensitivity to print

indexed by N170 print and lexical tuning may represent its own unique contribution to the acquisition and development of skilled reading ability.

In order to address this hypothesis, future research should investigate reading ability as a function of underlying skills of orthography, phonology, and semantics (including ortho-semantic learning), with the addition of N70 print and lexical tuning effects as predictor variables. Considering skilled reading as the dependent variable would allow for consideration of the possibility that N170 effects may account for additional variance in skilled reading beyond behavioural skills such as phonemic decoding, ortho-semantic learning, and ortho-semantic knowledge.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

The goal of the current study was to bridge the conceptual gap between the behavioural and electrophysiological bodies of literature on skilled reading development by investigating the relationship between orthographic and semantic learning — skills thought to be directly involved in the transition to skilled reading — and N170 print and lexical tuning, established neurophysiological markers of visual word expertise and higher-level lexical processing of print.

Findings from this study provide novel insights into the patterns of group-level N170 effects in grade 3 (eight- and nine-year-old) readers — a grade and age group that had not previously been investigated. The bilateral group-level lexical tuning effect reported in the current study suggested that contrary to previous reports of left-hemisphere-specific emergence and fine-tuning of this effect, the development of lexical tuning may exhibit a pattern of right-to-left lateralization, reflecting initial right hemisphere pattern recognition followed by gradual left lateralization as the rules of printed language are acquired and left hemisphere language areas are engaged.

The current study also provides preliminary evidence for a functional relationship between orthographic learning and the N170 print tuning effect, indicated by a *larger* amplitude bilateral print tuning effect for children with higher scores of orthographic learning. This finding may represent the strengthening of connections between visual (print expertise) and linguistic (knowledge of letters and letter strings) subsystems with continued exposure to and experience with printed language, which serves as an extension of the phonological mapping hypothesis (Maurer & McCandliss). The relationship between orthographic learning and N170 print tuning is interpreted with caution in the context of the current study, however, as the basic relationships documented in the behavioural literature between ortho-semantic learning, reading ability, and additional underlying skills (i.e., the relationships that drive the behavioural theories and investigations of reading development) were not accounted for in this data. This absence of these characteristic relationships confounds the overall interpretation of the findings in two ways. First, it brings into question whether the orthosemantic learning measures obtained in this study truly reflect the extent of these skills in the sample of readers, as the measures used in the current study were novel adaptations of an existing paradigm that may have been limited in their ability to adequately target these skills. Second, the absence of these relationships makes it difficult to determine how the findings noted in this study relate to other reading-related skills (e.g., fluency).

As such, future studies should further investigate the relationship between orthosemantic learning and N170 effects by employing a more extensive adaptation of the ortho-semantic learning paradigm and obtaining more robust measures of reading ability, as well as underlying skills of orthography, phonology, and semantics. Future studies should also examine alternative contrasts between experimental stimulus conditions and consider additional cognitive, linguistic, and environmental variables implicated in previous studies of reading development. Furthermore, additional studies of behavioural and electrophysiological measures in grade 3 readers should be conducted in order to further explore the potential patterns of print and lexical tuning development that are unique to this age and grade level. Additional longitudinal studies including data from all of the elementary school grades would help to integrate the findings from grade 3 readers

into a more general account of behavioural and N170 print/lexical tuning changes throughout reading development.

This study, along with future research, will ultimately help us to develop a better understanding of the functional relationships between ERP data and behavioural measures of reading, which may in turn have several long-term, real-world benefits. First, in the future, we may be able to integrate our knowledge of these relationships to develop a technique/tool that allows us to identify problem skills for each individual child based on patterns noted in their electrophysiological and behavioural data. This would in turn help to develop maximally effective ways of teaching children to read, ensuring that each child's education is structured to optimize their learning based on their identified skills and weaknesses. Maximizing reading abilities based on individual levels of ability would ultimately improve overall children's academic success, which would have additional far reaching positive consequences (e.g., vocational achievement and social integration; Lloyd, 1978; Hernandez, 2011; Cohen et al., 2018).

Additionally, this body of research could help us to develop methods of detecting the emergence of deficits in printed word processing (McCandliss and Noble, 2003), as well as methods of testing the effects of corresponding educational approaches and intervention techniques by investigating pre- and post- intervention brain correlates of reading and their relationships with behavioural outcomes (Maurer et al., 2006).

Ultimately, the long-term goal is to use these findings to optimize our general understanding of skilled reading and the variability that exists across children, in order to develop tools and techniques that maximize each child's reading abilities and consequently, their academic outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Acheson, D. J., Wells, J. B., MacDonald, M. C. (2008). New and updated tests of print exposure and reading abilities in college students. *Behavioural Research Methods*, 40(1), 278-289.
- Akaike, H. (1973). Maximum likelihood identification of Gaussian autoregressive moving average models. *Biometrika*, 60(2), 255-265.
- Archer, N., & Bryant, P. (2001). Investigating the role of context in learning to read: A direct test of Goodman's model. *British Journal of Psychology*, 92, 579–591.
- Barber, H., & Kutas, M. (2007). Interplay between computational models and cognitive electrophysiology in visual word recognition. *Brain Research Reviews*, 53, 98-123. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.07.002
- Bentin, S., Mouchetant-Rostaing, Y., Giard, M. H., Echallier, J.F., & Pernier J. (1999). ERP manifestations of processing printed words at different psycholinguistic levels: Time course and scalp distribution. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 11, 235–260.
- Beverdorf, D. Q., Ratcliffe, N. R., Rhodes, C. H., & Reeves, A. G. (1997). Pure alexia: clinical-pathologic evidence for a lateralized visual language association cortex. *Clinical Neuropathology*, 16, 328-331.
- Blau, V. C., Maurer, U., Tottenham, N., & McCandliss, B. D. (2007). The face-specific N170 component is modulated by emotional facial expression. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 3(1), 7. doi:10.1186/1744-9081-3-7
- Bowey, J. A., & Miller, R. (2007). Correlates of orthographic learning in third-grade children's silent reading. *Journal of Research in Reading*, *30*, 115–128. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9817.2007.00335.x
- Brem, S., Bach, S., Kujala, J. V., Maurer, U., Lyytinen, H., Richardson, U., & Brandeis, D. (2013). An electrophysiological study of print processing in kindergarten: the contribution of the visual n1 as a predictor of reading outcome. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 38(8), 567-594. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2013.828729
- Brem, S., Bucher, K., Halder, P., Summers, P., Dietrich, T., Martin, E., & Brandeis, D. (2006). Evidence for developmental changes in the visual word processing network beyond adolescence. *NeuroImage*, 29(3), 822–837.

- Brem, S., Lang-Dullenkopf, A., Maurer, U., Halder, P., Bucher, K., & Brandeis, D. (2005). Neurophysiological signs of rapidly emerging visual expertise for symbol strings. *Neuroreport*, 16(1), 45-48.
- Bryant, P., & Goswami, U. (2016). Phonological skills and learning to read. Routledge.
- Bryant, P. E., MacLean, M., Bradley, L. L., & Crossland, J. (1990). Rhyme and alliteration, phoneme detection, and learning to read. *Developmental Psychology*, 26(3), 429.
- Bryant, P., & Nunes, T. (2004). Morphology and spelling. In T. Nunes & P. Bryant (Eds.), Handbook of children's literacy (pp.91-118). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-1731-1_6
- Bus, A. G., and Van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (1999). Phonological awareness and early reading: a meta-analysis of experimental training studies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91, 403–414. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.91.3.403
- Cain, K., Oakhill, J., & Elbro, C. (2003). The ability to learn new word meanings from context by school-age children with and without language comprehension difficulties. *Journal of Child Language*, 30, 681–694.
- Cain, K., Oakhill, J., Lemmon, K. (2004). Individual differences in the inference of word meanings from context: The influence of reading comprehension, vocabulary knowledge, and memory capacity. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96, 671– 681. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.671
- Campbell, R. (1998). *Facilitating preschool literacy*. Newark, Delaware: International Reading Association.
- Capeda, N. J., Pashler, H., Vul, E., Wixted, J. T., & Rohrer, D. (2006). Distributed practice in verbal recall tasks: A review and quantitative synthesis. *Psychlogical Bulletin*, *132*, 354-380. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.3.354
- Castles, A., & Nation, K. (2006). How does orthographic learning happen? From inkmarks to ideas: Current issues in lexical processing, 151.
- Chall, J. S. (1987). Two vocabularies for reading: recognition and meaning. In M.G. McKeown & M.E. Curtis (Eds.), *The nature of vocabulary acquisition* (pp. 7-17). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Chall, J. S. (1996). *Stages of reading development* (2nd ed.). Fort Worth: Harcourt Brace Jovanovic College Publishers.

- Chall, J. S., Jacobs, V. A., & Baldwin, L. E. (1990). *The reading crisis: Why poor children fall behind*. Cambridge, MA & London, England: Harvard University Press.
- Children's Literacy Initiative. (2017). *Building early literacy print concepts: What is print awareness?* Retrieved from https://cli.org/blueprint/teachers/print-concepts/
- Coch, D., Grossi, G., Skendzel, W., & Neville, H. (2005). ERP nonword rhyming effects in children and adults. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17(1), 168-182.
- Coch, D., & Meade, G. (2016). N1 and P2 to words and wordlike stimuli in late elementary school children and adults. *Psychophysiology*, 53(2), 115-128.
- Cohen, L., Dehaene, S., Naccache, L., Lehéricy, S., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Hénaff, M-A., & Michel, F. (2000). The visual word form area: Spatial and temporal characterization of an initial stage of reading in normal subjects and posterior split-brain patients. *Brain*, 123(2), 291-307.
- Cohen, L., & Dehaene, S. (2004). Specialization within the ventral stream: the case for the visual word form area. *NeuroImage*, 22(1), 466–476.
- Cohen, L., Lehéricy, S., Chochon, F., Lemer, C., Rivaud, S., & Dehaene, S. (2002). Language-Specific tuning of the visual cortex? Functional properties of the Visual Word Form Area. *Brain*, 125, 1054-1069.
- Cohen, M., Mahé, G., Laganaro, M., & Zesiger, P. (2018). Does the relation between rapid automatized naming and reading depend on age or on reading level? A behavioral and ERP study. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *12*(73), 1-10. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018.00073
- Coltheart, M., Rastle, K., Perry, C., Langdon, R., & Ziegler, J. (2001). DRC: a dual route cascaded model of visual word recognition and reading aloud. *Psychological Review*, *108*(1), 204.
- Compton, P. E., Grossenbacher, P., Posner, M. I., & Tucker, D. M. (1991). A cognitiveanatomical approach to attention in lexical access. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *3*(4), 304-312.
- Connolly, J. F., & Phillips, N. A. (1994). Event-related potential components reflect phonological and semantic processing of the terminal word of spoken sentences. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *6*, 256–266.
- Connolly, J. F., Phillips, N. A., & Forbes, K. A. (1995). The effects of phonological and semantic features of sentence-ending words on visual event-related brain potentials. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 94(4), 276– 287.

- Connolly, J. F., Stewart, S. H., & Phillips, N. A. (1990). The effects of processing requirements on neuropsychological responses to spoken sentences. *Brain and Language, 39*, 302–318.
- Conrad, N. J., & Deacon, S. H. (2016). Children's orthographic knowledge and their word reading skill: Testing bidirectional relations. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 20(4), 339-347.
- Cramer, S. C., Sur, M. S., Dobkin, B. H., O'Brien, C., Sanger, T. D., Trojanowski, J. Q., Rumsey, J. M., ..., & Vinogradov, S. (2011). Harnessing neuroplasticity for clinical applications. *Brain*, 134(6), 1591-1609.
- Cunningham, J. (2001). The national reading panel report. *Reading Research Quarterly,* 36, 326–335.
- Cunningham, A. E., Perry, K. E., Stanovich, K. E., & Share, D. L. (2002). Orthographic learning during reading: Examining the role of self-teaching. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 82, 185–199.
- Cunningham, A. E. (2006). Accounting for children's orthographic learning while reading text: Do children self-teach? *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 95, 56– 77. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2006.03.008
- Deacon, S.H. (2012a). Bringing development into a universal model of reading. *Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, 35, 284.
- Deacon, S.H. (2012b). Sounds, letters and meanings: The independent influences of phonological, morphological, and orthographic skills on early word reading accuracy. *Journal of Research in Reading*, *4*(35), 456-475.
- Deacon, S.H., Benere, J. & Castles, A. (2012). Chicken or egg? Untangling the relationship between orthographic processing skill and reading accuracy. *Cognition, 122,* 110–117.
- Deacon, S. H., Tong, X., & Francis, K. (2015). The relationship of morphological analysis and morphological decoding to reading comprehension. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 00(00), 1–16. doi: 10.1111/1467-9817.12056
- Dehaene, S., & Cohen, L. (2011). The unique role of the visual word form area in reading. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(6), 254-262. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.04.003
- Dehaene, S., Le Clec'H, G., Poline, J. B., Le Bihan, D., & Cohen, L. (2002). The visual word form area: a prelexical representation of visual words in the fusiform gyrus. *Neuroreport*, 13(3), 321-325.

- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 134(1), 9-21.
- Desroches, A. S., Newman, R. L., & Joanisse, M. F. (2008). Investigating the time course of spoken word recognition: Electrophysiological evidence for the influences of phonological similarity. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 21(10), 1893-1906.
- Dien, J. (2009). The neurocognitive basis of reading single words as seen through early latency ERPs: A model of converging pathways. *Biological Psychology*, *80*, 10–22.
- Dujardin, T., Etienne, Y., Contentin, C., Bernard, C., Largy, P., Mellier, D., ... & Rebaï, M. (2011). Behavioral performances in participants with phonological dyslexia and different patterns on the N170 component. *Brain and Cognition*, 75(2), 91-100.
- Dunn, L. M., & Dunn, D. M. Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, Fourth Edition. (Pearson, 2007).
- Dyer, A., MacSweeney, M., Szczerbinski, M., Green, L., & Campbell, R. (2003).
 Predictors of reading delay in deaf adolescents: The relative contributions of rapid automatized naming speed and phonological awareness and decoding. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 8(3), 215-229. doi: 10.1093/deafed/eng012
- Ehri, L. (1991). Development of the ability to read words. In R. Barr, M. Kamil, P. Mosenthal, & P. Pearson (Eds.). Handbook of reading research (Vol. 2, pp. 383– 417). New York: Longman.
- Ehri, L. C. (1992). Reconceptualizing the development of sight word reading and its relationship to recoding. In P. B. Gough, L. C. Ehri, & R. Treiman, *Reading* acquisition (pp. 107-144). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Ehri, L. (1995). Phases of development in learning to read words by sight. *Journal of Research in Reading, 18*, 116–125.
- Ehri, L. C. (2005). Learning to read words: Theory, findings, and issues. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 9(2), 167-188.
- Eimer, M. (2000). The face-specific N170 component reflects late stages in the structural encoding of faces. *Neuroreport.* 11(10), 2319-2324.
- Eulitz, C., Eulitz, H., Maess, B., Cohen, R., Pantev, C., & Elbert, T. (2000). Magnetic brain activity evoked and induced by visually presented words and nonverbal stimuli. *Psychophysiology*, 37(4), 447-455.

- Ewers, C., & Brownson, S. (1999). Kindergarteners' vocabulary acquisition as a function of active vs. passive storybook reading, prior vocabulary, and working memory. *Reading Psychology*, 20(1), 11–20.
- Fiez, J. A., & Petersen, S. E. (1998). Neuroimaging studies of word reading. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(3), 914-921. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.3.914
- Fitzer, K. R., & Hale, J. B. (2015, May 15). Reading and the brain: Strategies for decoding, fluency, and comprehension. Retrieved from https://www.ldatschool.ca/teaching-the-brain-to-read-strategies-for-enhancingreading-decoding-fluency-and-comprehension/
- Fitzgerald, J., & Shanahan, T., (2000). Reading and writing relations and their development. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(1), 39-50. doi:10.1207/S15326985 EP3501_5
- Frith, U. (1985). A developmental framework for developmental dyslexia. Annals of dyslexia, 36(1), 67-81.
- Frost, R. (1998). Toward a strong phonological theory of visual word recognition: true issues and false trails. *Psychological Bulletin, 123*(1), 71.
- Gabrieli, J. D. E., Hoeft, F., Tanaka, H., Black, J. M., Stanley, L. M., ..., & Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. (2011). The brain basis of the phonological deficit in dyslexia is independent of IQ. *Psychological Science*, 22(11), 1442-51.
- Genesee, F. (2004). What do we know about bilingual education for majority language students? In T. K. Bhatia & W. Ritchie (Eds.), *Handbook of Bilingualism and Multiculturalism* (pp. 547-576). Maiden, MA: Blackwell.
- González, G. F., Žarić, G., Tijms, J., Bonte, M., Blomert, L., Leppänen, P, & van der Molen, M. W. (2016). Responsivity to dyslexia training indexed by the N170 amplitude of the brain potential elicited by word reading. *Brain and Cognition*, 106, 42-54.
- Gramfort, A., Luessi, M., Larson, E., Engemann, D., Strohmeier, D., Brodbeck, C., Goj, R., Jas, M., Brooks, T., Parkkonen, L., & Hämäläinen, M. (2013). MEG and EEG data analysis with MNE-Python, *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7.
- Gramfort, A., Luessi, M., Larson, E., Engemann, D., Strohmeier, D., Brodbeck, C., Parkkonen, L., & Hämäläinen, M. (2014). MNE software for processing MEG and EEG data, *NeuroImage*, 86, 446-460.

- Gunning, T. G. (2010). *Creating literacy instruction for all children* (4th Ed.). Boston: Allyn & Beacon.
- Haider, M., Spong, P., & Lindsley, D. B. (1964). Attention, vigilance, and cortical evoked-potentials in humans, *Science*, 145, 180-182.
- Hyvärinen, A. (1999). Fast and robust fixed-point algorithms for independent component analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, 10(3), 626-634.
- Hauk, O., & Pulvermuller, F. (2004). Effects of word length and frequency on the human event-related potential. *Clinical Neurophysiology 115*(5), 1090–1103.
- Hauk, O., Patterson, K., Woollams, A., Watling, L., Pulvermuller, F., & Rogers, T. T. (2006). [Q:] When would you prefer a SOSSAGE to a SAUSAGE? [A:] At about 100 ms. ERP correlates of orthographic typicality and lexicality in written word recognition. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience 18*(5), 818–832.
- Helenius, P., Tarkiainen, A., Cornelissen, P., Hansen, P.C., & Salmelin, R. (1999).
 Dissociation of normal feature analysis and deficient processing of letter-strings in dyslexic adults. *Cerebral Cortex*, 9(5), 476–483.
- Hernandez, D. J. (2011). Double Jeopardy: How third-grade reading skills and poverty influence high school graduation (Report # ED518818). Baltimore, MD: Annie E. Casey Foundation.
- Hinojosa, J. A., Mercado, F., & Carretié, L. (2015). N170 sensitivity to facial expression.: A meta-analysis. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioural Reviews*, 55, 498-509.
- Hogan, T. P., Catts, H. W. & Little, T. D. (2005). The relationship between phonological awareness and reading: Implications for the assessment of phonological awareness. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 35*, 285–293.
- Holm, S. (1979). A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. *Scandinavian Journal of Statistics*, 6(2), 65–70.
- Hu, C-F. (2003). Phonological memory, phonological awareness, and foreign language word learning. *Language Learning*, *53*(3), 429-462.
- Huo, S., & Wang, S. (2017). The effectiveness of phonological-based instruction in English as a foreign language students at primary school level: A research synthesis. *Frontiers in Education*, 2(15), 1-13. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2017.00015
- Jacques, C. d'Arripe, O., & Rossion, B. (2007). The time course of the face inversion effect during individual face discrimination. *Journal of Vision*, 7(3), 1–9. doi:10.1167/7.8.3

- Joyce, C., & Rossion, B. (2005). The face-sensitive N170 and VPP components manifest the same brain processes: the effect of reference electrode site. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 116(11), 2613–2631.
- Juel, C. (1988). Learning to read and write: A longitudinal study of 54 children from first through fourth grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *80*(4), 437-447.
- Jung, T-P., Makeig, S., Westerfield, M., Townsend, J., Courchesne, E., & Sejnowski, T. J. (2000). Removal of eye activity artifacts from visual event-related potentials in normal and clinical subjects. *Clinical Neuropsychology*, 111, 1745-1758.
- Kast, M., Elmer, S., Jancke, L., & Meyer, M. (2010). ERP differences of pre-lexical processing between dyslexic and non-dyslexic children. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 77, 59–69.
- Kear, D. J., & Gladhart, M. A. (1983). Comparative study to identify high-frequency words in printed materials. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 57(3), 807-810. doi:10.2466/pms.1983.57.3.8.07
- Kim, K. H., Yoon, H. W., & Park, H. W. (2004). Spatiotemporal brain activation pattern during word/picture perception by native Koreans. *NeuroReport*, 15, 1099–1103.
- Kutas, M., & Federmeier, K. D. (2011). Thirty years and counting: Finding meaning in the N400 component of the event-related brain potential (ERP). Annual Review of Psychology, 62(14), 1-14.
- Kutas, M., & Hillyard, S. A. (1983). Event-related brain potentials to grammatical errors and semantic anomalies. *Memory & Cognition*, 11, 539-550.
- Kyte, C. S., & Johnson, C. J. (2006). The role of phonological recoding in orthographic learning. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 93, 166–185.
- Landi, N., Perfetti, C. A., Bolger, D. J., Dunlap, S., & Foorman, B. R. (2006). The role of discourse context in developing word form representations: A paradoxical relation between reading and learning. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 94, 114–133.
- Lau, E. F., Phillips, C., Poeppel, D. (2008). A cortical network for semantics: (de)constructing the N400. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*, 920-933.
- Leff, A. P., Crewes, H., Plant, G. T., Scott, S. K., Kennard, C., & Wise, R. J. (2001). The functional anatomy of single-word reading in patients with hemianopic and pure alexia. *Brain*, 124, 510-521.

- Lesnick, J., Goerge, R., Smithgall, C., & Gwynne J. (2010). *Reading on grade level in third grade: How is it related to high school performance and college enrollment?* Chicago: Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago.
- Lloyd, D. N. (1978). Prediction of school failure from third-grade data. *Educational and Psychological Measurement, 38*, 1193-2000.
- Lonigan, C. J., Burgess, S. R., & Anthony, J. L. (2000). Development of emergent literacy and early reading skills in preschool children: Evidence from a latentvariable longitudinal study. *Developmental Psychology*, 36(5), 596–613.
- Luck, S. J. (2005). *An introduction to the event-related potential technique*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Lyon, G.R., Shaywitz, S., & Shaywitz, B. (2003). A definition of dyslexia. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 53(1), 1-14.
- Makeig, S., Jung, T-P., Bell, A. J., Ghahremani, D., & Sejnowski, T. J. (1997). Blind separation of auditory event-related brain responses into independent components. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94, 10979-10984.
- Mangun, G. R., & Hillyard, S. A, (1991). Modulations of sensory-evoked brain potentials indicate changes in perceptual processing during visual-spatial priming. *Journal* of Experimental Psychology: Human perception and performance, 17(4), 1057-1074.
- Masterson, J., Stuart, M., Dixon, M., & Lovekoy, S. (2010). Children's printed word database: Continuities and changes over time in children's early reading vocabulary. *British Journal of Psychology*, 101, 221-242. doi:10.1348/000712608X371744
- Maurer, U., Brandeis, D., & McCandliss, B. D. (2005). Fast, visual specialization for reading in English revealed by the topography of the N170 ERP response. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 1(1), 13.
- Maurer, U., Brem, S., Bucher, K., & Brandeis, D. (2005). Emerging neurophysiological specialization for letter strings. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17, 1532– 1552.
- Maurer, U., Brem, S., Kranz, F., Bucher, K., Benz, R., Halder, P., Steinhausen, H-C., & Brandeis, D. (2006). Coarse neural tuning for print peaks when children learn to read. *Neuroimage*, 33(2), 749-758.
- Maurer, U., & McCandliss, B. D. (2007). The development of visual expertise for words: The contribution of electrophysiology in New Directions in Communication

Disorders Research: Integrative Approaches, eds E. L. Grigorenko and A. J. Naples (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 43–63.

- Maurer, U., Blau, V. C., Yoncheva, Y. N., & McCandliss, B. D. (2010). Development of visual expertise for reading: rapid emergence of visual familiarity for an artificial script. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 35(4), 404-422.
- Maurer, U., Schulz, E., Brem, S., van der Mark, S., Bucher, K., Martin, E., & Brandeis, D. (2011). The development of print tuning in children with dyslexia: Evidence from longitudinal ERP data supported by fMRI. *Neuroimage*, 57, 714-722. doi:10.1016/j.neuro image.2010.10.055
- McCandliss, B. D., Posner, M. I., & Givon, T. (1997). Brain plasticity in learning visual words. *Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 33(1), 88-110.
- McCandliss, B. D., & Noble, K. G. (2003). The development of reading impairment: a cognitive neuroscience model. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 9(3), 196–204.
- McCarthy, G., Puce, A., Belger, A., Allison, T. (1999). Electrophysiological Studies of Human Face Perception. II: Response Properties of Face-specific Potentials Generated in Occipitotemporal Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 9(5), 431-444. doi: 10.1093/cercor/9.5.431
- Mechelli, A., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., & Price, C. J. (2003). Neuroimaging studies of word and pseudoword reading: consistencies, inconsistencies, and limitations. *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience, 15(2), 260-271.
- Mimeau, C., Ricketts, J., & Deacon, S. H. (2018). The role of orthographic and semantic learning in word reading and reading comprehension. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Nagy, W. E., & Herman, P. A. (1987). Breadth and depth of vocabulary knowledge: Implications for acquisition and instruction. In M. G. McKeown & M. E. Curtis (Eds.), *The nature of vocabulary acquisition* (pp. 19-35). Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Nation, K., & Snowling, M. J. (1998). Semantic processing and the development of word-recognition skils: Evidence from children with reading comprehension difficulties. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 39, 85-101.
- Nation, K., Angell, P., & Castles, A. (2007). Orthographic learning via self-teaching in children learning to read English: Effects of exposure, durability and context. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *96*(1), 71–84.

- Nation, K., & Castles, A. (2017). Putting the learning into orthographic learning. In K. Cain, D. L. Compton, & R. K. Parrila (Eds.), *Theories of reading development* (pp. 147-168). (Studies in written language and literacy; Vol. 15). Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing. doi: 10.1075/swll.15.09nat
- Newman, R. L., Connolly, J. F., Service, E., & Mcivor, K. (2003). Influence of phonological expectations during a phoneme deletion task: Evidence from eventrelated brain potentials. *Psychophysiology*, 40(4), 640-647. doi: 10.1111/1469-8986.00065
- Neumann, M. M., Hood, M., & Ford, R. M. (2013). Using environmental print to enhance emergent literacy and print motivation. *Reading and Writing*, *26*(5), 771-793.
- Nichols, W. D., Rupley, W. H., & Rickelman, R. J. (2004). Examining phonemic awareness and concepts of print patterns of kindergarten students. *Reading Research and Instruction*, 43(3), 61.
- Nidal, K., & Malik, A. S. (Eds.). (2014). *EEG/ERP analysis: Methods and applications*. Crc Press.
- Nystrand, M. (2006). Research on the Role of Classroom Discourse as It Affects Reading Comprehension. *Research in the Teaching of English, 40*(4), 392-412.
- Olson, R. K., Kliegl, R., Davidson, B. J., & Foltz, G. (1985). Individual and developmental differences in reading disability. In G. E. MacKinnon & T. G. Waller (Eds.), *Reading research: Advances in theory and practice* (Vol. 4, pp. 1– 64). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Ouellette, G. P. (2006). What's meaning got to do with it? The role of vocabulary in word reading and reading comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(3), 554-566. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.98.3.554
- Oulette, G., & van Daal, V. (2017). Introduction to the Special Issue. Orthographic Learning and Mental Representations in Literacy: Striving for a Better Understanding of a Complex Lead Role. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 21(1), 1-4.
- Pacton, S., & Deacon, S. H. (2008). The timing and mechanisms of children's use of morphological information in spelling: A review of evidence from English and French. *Cognitive Development*, 23(3), 339-359.
- Pasquarella, A., Chen, X., Lam, K., Luo, Y. C., & Ramirez, G. (2011). Cross-language transfer of morphological awareness in Chinese–English bilinguals. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 34, 23–42.

- Petersen, S. E., & Fiez, J. A. (1993). The processing of single words studied with positron emission tomorgraphy. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 16, 509-530.
- Perfetti, C. (2007). Reading ability: Lexical quality to comprehension. *Scientific Studies* of *Reading*, 11(4), 357-383.
- Perfetti, C., & Hart, L., (2001). The lexical bases of comprehension skill. In D.S. Gorfien (Ed.), On the consequences of meaning selection: Perspectives on resolving lexical ambiguity (pp. 67-86). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Perfetti, C., & Hart, L. (2002). The lexical quality hypothesis. In L. Verhoeven, C. Elbrow, & P. Reitsma (Eds.). Precursors of functional literacy (Vol. 11, pp. 67– 86). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Perfetti, C. A., & Ying, L. (2005). Orthography to phonology and meaning: Comparisons across and within writing systems. *Reading and Writing*, 18, 193-210. doi: 10.1007/s11145-004-2344-y
- Pikulski, J. J., & Chard, D. J. (2005). Fluency: Bridge between decoding and reading comprehension.
- Plaut, D. C., McClelland, J. L., Seidenberg, M. S., & Patterson, K. (1996). Understanding normal and impaired word reading: computational principles in quasi-regular domains. *Psychological Review*, 103(1), 56.
- Polk, T. A., & Farah, M. J. (2002). Functional MRI evidence for an abstract, not perceptual, word-form area. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 131(1), 65-72. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445.131.1.65
- Posner, M., & McCandliss, B.D. (2000). Brain circuitry during reading. In Klein, R., McMullen, P. (Eds.), *Converging methods for understanding reading and dyslexia* (pp. 305-337). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Price, C. J., & Devlin, J. T. (2003). The myth of the visual word form area. *Neuroimage* 19, 473–481.
- Price, C., & Devlin, J. T. (2011). The interactive account of ventraloccipito-temporal contributions to reading. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. 15, 246–253.
- Proverbio, A. M., Vecchi, L., Zani, A. (2004). From orthography to phonetics: ERP measures of grapheme-to-phoneme conversion mechanisms in reading. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *16*(2), 301–317.

- Quinn, C., Taylor, J. S. H., & Davis, M. H. (2017). Learning and retrieving holistic and componential visual-verbal associations in reading and object naming. *Neuropsychologia*, 98, 68-84.
- Rack, J., Hulme, C., Snowling M., & Wightman, J. (1994). The role of phonology in young children learning to read words: The direct-mapping hypothesis. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 57, 42-71.
- Rapcsak, S. Z., Henry, M. L., Teague, S. L., Carnahan, S. D., & Beeson, P. M. (2007). Do dual-route models accurately predict reading and spelling performance in individuals with acquired alexia and agraphia? *Neuropsychologia*, 45(11), 2519-2524.
- Rastle, K., & Coltheart, M. (1999). Serial and strategic effects in reading aloud. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 25, 482–503. doi:10.1037/0096-1523.25.2.482
- Reed, D. (n.d.). Random letter sequence generator [HTML document]. Retrieved from http://www.dave-reed.com/Nifty/randSeq.html
- Ricketts, J., Bishop, D. V. M., & Nation, K. (2008). Investigating orthographic and semantic aspects of word learning in poor comprehenders. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 31(1), 117–135.
- Ricketts, J., Bishop, D. V. M., Pimperton, H., & Nation, K. (2011). The role of selfteaching in learning orthographic and semantic aspects of new words. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *15*, 47–70. doi:10.1080/10888438.2011.536129
- Righart, R., & de Gelder, B. (2008). Rapid influence of emotional scenes on encoding of facial expressions: an ERP study. *Social Cognitive & Affective Neuroscience*, 3(3), 270–278. doi:10.1093/scan/nsn021
- Riley, J. L. (1995). The transition phase between emergent literacy and conventional beginning reading: New research findings. *An International Research Journal*, 16(1), 55-59. doi: 10.1080/0957514950160112
- Robson, H., Pilkington, E., Evans, L., DeLuca, V., & Keidel, J. (2017). Phonological and semantic processing during comprehension in Wernicke's aphasia: An N400 and Phonological Mapping Negativity study. *Neuropsychologia*, 100, 144-154.
- Roth, F. P., Paul, D. R., Pierotti, A-M. (2006). *Emergent literacy: Early reading and writing development*. Retrieved from https://www.asha.org/public/speech/emergent-literacy.htm

- Roman, A., Kirby, J., Parrila, R., Wade-Woolley, L. & Deacon, S. (2009). Towards a comprehensive view of the skills involved in word reading in Grades 4, 6, and 8. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 102, 96–113.
- Rossion, B., Gauthier, I., Tarr, M. J., Despland, P., Bruyer, R., Linotte, S., & Crommelinck, M. (2000). The N170 occipito-temporal component is delayed and enhanced to inverted faces but not to inverted objects: an electrophysiological account of face-specific processes in the human brain. *Neuroreport*, 11(1), 69-72.
- Rossion, B., & Jacques, C. (2008). Does physical interstimulus variance account for early electrophysiological face sensitive responses in the human brain? Ten lessons on the N170. *NeuroImage*, *39*(4), 1959–1979. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.10.011
- Rossion, B., Joyce, C. A., Cottrell, G.W., & Tarr, M. J. (2003). Early lateralization and orientation tuning for face, word, and object processing in the visual cortex. *NeuroImage*, 20(3), 1609-1624.
- Rubin, H., Turner, A., & Kantor, M. (1991). Fourth grade follow-up of reading and spelling skills of French Immersion students. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 3*, 63-73.
- Rugg, M. D. (1984). Event-related potentials and the phonological processing of words and non-words. *Neuropsychologia*, 22(4), 435-443.
- Rugg, M. D., & Barrett, S. E. (1987). Event-related potentials and the interaction between orthographic and phonological information in a rhyme-judgment task. *Brain and Language, 32,* 336–361.
- Sanquist, T. F., Rohrbaugh, J. W., Syndulko, K., & Lindsley, D. B. (1980). Electrocortical signs of levels of processing: Perceptual analysis and recognition memory. *Psychophysiology*, 17, 568–576.
- Sánchez-Vincitore, L. V. Avery, T., & Froud, K. (2017). Word-related N170 responses to implicit and explicit reading tasks in neoliterate adults. *International Journal of Behavioural Development: Special Section: Neuroscience and Literacy Acquisition*, 42(3), 321-332. doi: 10.1177/0165025417714063
- Scerri, T. S., Macpherson, E., Martinelli, A., Wa, W. C., Monaco, A. P., Stein, J., Zheng, M., ..., & Paracchini, S. (2017). The DCDC2 deletion is not a risk factor for dyslexia. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7, e1182. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.151
- Schendan, H. E., Ganis, G., & Kutas, M. (1998). Neurophysiological evidence for visual perceptual categorization of words and faces within 150 ms. *Psychophysiology*, 35, 240–251.

- Sebba, M. (2007). Spelling and society: The culture and politics of orthography around the world. Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Seidenberg, M. S. (1992). Beyond orthographic depth in reading: Equitable division of labor. In Ram Frost & Leonard Katz (Eds.), Orthography, phonology, morphology, and meaning (pp. 85–118.). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Sereno, S. C., Rayner, K., & Posner, M. I., 1998. Establishing a time-line of word recognition: Evidence from eye movements and event-related potentials. *Neuroreport*, 9, 2195–2200.
- Share, D. (1995) Phonological recoding and self-teaching: sine qua non of reading acquisition. *Cognition*, 55, 151–218.
- Sheriston, L., Critten, S., & Jones, E. (2016). Routes to reading and spelling: Testing the predictions of dual-route theory. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 51(4), 403-417. doi: 10.1002/rrq.143
- Shaul, S., Arzouan, Y., & Goldstein, A. (2012). Brain activity while reading words and pseudo-words: A comparison between dyslexic and fluent readers. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 84(3), 270-276.
- Simon, G., Bernard, C., Largy, P., Lalonde, R., Rebai, M. (2004). Chronometry of visual word recognition during passive and lexical decision tasks: an ERP investigation. *The International Journal of Neuroscience*, 114(11), 1401–1432.
- Sparks, E., & Deacon, S. H. (2015). Morphological awareness and vocabulary acquisition: A longitudinal examination of their relationship in English-speaking children. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 36, 299–321. doi:10.1017/S01427164130002 46.
- Stahl, S. A., & Murray, B. A. (1994). Defining phonological awareness and its relationship to early reading. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86(2), 221-234.
- Stanovich, K. (2000). Progress in understanding reading: Scientific foundations and new frontiers. New York, NY: Guildford.
- Starrfelt, R., & Behrmann, M. (2011). Number reading in pure alexia a review. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(9), 2283-2298.
- Stuart, M., Masterson, J., & Dixon, M. (2000). Spongelike acquisition of sight vocabulary in beginning readers? *Journal of Research in Reading*, 23(1), 12–27.
- Studdert-Kennedy, M., & Goodell, E. W. (1995). Gestures, features and segments in early child speech. In B. de Gelder & J. Morais (Eds.), *Speech and reading: A*

comparative approach (pp. 65–88). East Sussex, England: Erlbaum and Taylor & Francis.

- Sur, S., & Sinha, V. K. (2009). Event-related potential: An overview. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 18(1), 70-73.
- Sulzby, E. (1992). Research directions: Transitions from emergent to conventional writing. *Language Arts, 69*(4), 290-297.
- Swanborn, M., & de Glopper, K. (2002). Impact of reading purpose on incidental word learning from context. *Language Learning*, 52(1), 95–117.
- Tanaka, J. W., & Curran, T. (2001). A neural basis for expert object recognition. *Psychological Science*, *12*, 43–47. doi:10.1111/1467-9280.00308
- Tarkiainen, A., Helenius, P., Hansen, P. C., Cornelissen, P. L., & Salmelin, R. (1999). Dynamics of letter string perception in the human occipitotemporal cortex. *Brain*, 122(11), 2119-2132.
- Teplan, M. (2002). Fundamentals of EEG measurement. *Measurement Science Review*, 2(2), 1-11.
- Thomason, R. H. (2012). *What is semantics*. Education. [Online article]. Retrieved from https://web.eecs.umich.edu/~rthomaso/documents/general/what-is-semantics.html
- Torgesen, J.K., Wagner, R.K., Rashotte, C.A., Rose, E., Lindamood, P., ..., & Garvin, C. (1999). Preventing reading failure in young children with phonological processing disabilities: Group and individual responses to instruction. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91, 579-593.
- Tremblay, A. & Newman, A. (2015). Modeling nonlinear relationships in ERP data using mixed-effects regression with R examples. *Psychophysiology* 52, 124–139.
- Tucker, R., Castles, A., Laroche, A. & Deacon, S.H. (2016). The nature of orthographic learning in self-teaching: Testing the extent of transfer. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 145, 79-94. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2015.12.007
- Tunmer, W. E., & Nesdale, A. R. (1985). Phonemic segmentation skill and beginning reading. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(4), 417.
- Turnbull, M., Lapkin, S., & Hart, D. (2001). Grade 3 immersion students' performance in literacy and mathematics: Province-wide results from Ontario (1998-1999). *Canadian Modern Language Review*, 58(1).

- Ungureanu, M. Bigan, C., Strungaru, R., & Lazarescu, V. (2004). Independent component analysis applied in biomedical signal processing. *Measurement Science Review*, 4(2), 1-8.
- Van Petten, C., & Kutas, M. (1990). Interactions between sentence context and word frequency in event-related brain potentials. *Memory & Cognition*, 18(4), 380-393.
- Vellutino, F. R., Scanlon, D. M., & Tanzman, M. S. (1994). Components of reading ability: Issues and problems in operationalizing word identification, phonological coding, and orthographic coding. In G. R. Lyon (Ed.), *Frames of reference for the* assessment of learning disabilities: New views on measurement issues (pp. 279-332). Baltimore, MD, US: Paul H Brookes Publishing.
- Venezky, R. L. (1999). The American way of spelling: The structure and origins of American English orthography. Guilford Press.
- Vogel, A. C., Petersen, S. E., & Schlaggar, B. L. (2014). The VWFA: it's not just for words anymore. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8(88), 1-10. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.0008
- Vizioli, L., Foreman, K., Rousselet, G. A., & Caldara, R. (2010). Inverting faces elicits sensitivity to race on the N170 component: a cross-cultural study. *Journal of Vision*, 10(1), 1–23. doi:10.1167/10.1.15
- Wagenmakers, E-J., & Farrell, S. (2004). AIC model selection using Akaike weights. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 11(1), 192-196.
- Walley, A. C. (1993). The role of vocabulary development in children's spoken word recognition and segmentation ability. *Developmental Review*, 13, 286–350.
- Wang, M. Yang, C., & Cheng, C. (2009). The contributions of phonology, orthography, and morphology in Chinese-English biliteracy acquisition. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 30, 291-314.
- Wang, H. C., Castles, A., Nickels, L., & Nation, K. (2011). Context effects on orthographic learning of regular and irregular words. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 109, 39–57. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2010.11.005
- Wang, H-C., Nickels, L., Nation, K., & Castles, A. (2013). Predictors of orthographic learning of regular and irregular words. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 17(5), 369-384.
- Wagner, R. K., Torgesen, J. K. & Rashotte, C. A. The Comprehensive Test of Phonological Processing Examiner's Manual. (Pearson, 1999).

Wechsler, D. Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (Pro-Ed, 1999).

- Wolf, M. (2008). *Proust and the squid: The story and science of the reading brain.* Thriplow: Icon Books.
- Woodcock, R. W. Woodcock Reading Mastery Tests Revised Normative Update forms G and H examiner's manual. (Pearson, 1998).
- Wood, S. N. (2006). *Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R*. (Chapman and Hall/CRC).
- Wydell, T. N., Vuorinen, T., Helenius, P., & Salmelin, R. (2003). Neural correlates of letter-string length and lexicality during reading in a regular orthography. *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience, 15(7), 1052-1062.
- Zhang, M. X., Jiang, T., Mei, L. L., Yang, H. M., Chen, C. S., & Xue, G. (2011). It's a word: Early electrophysiological response to the character likeness of pictographs. *Psychophysiology*, 48, 950–959.
- Zhang, X. L., Begleiter, H., Porjesz, B., & Litke, A. (1997). Visual object priming differs from visual word priming: an ERP study. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 102(3), 200-215.
- Zhao, J., Kipp, K., Gaspar, C., Maurer, U., Weng, X., Mecklinger, A., & Li, S. (2014). Fine neural tuning for orthographic properties of words emerges early in children reading alphabetic script. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 26(11), 2431-2442. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_00660
- Ziegler, J. C. & Goswami, U. (2005). Reading acquisition, developmental dyslexia, and skilled reading across languages: A psycholinguistic grain size theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 131, 3–29.